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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933

and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. All statements other than statements of historical fact are
forward-looking statements for purposes of federal and state securities laws. Forward-looking statements may include

the words may, will, plans, believes, estimates, expects, intends and other similar expressions. Such st

subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause our actual results to differ materially from those projected in the

statements. Such risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to:

The effect of economic conditions in the United States or other space faring nations that could impact our ability
to access space and support or gain customers;

Our ability to raise sufficient capital to meet our long and short-term liquidity requirements;
Our ability to successfully pursue our business plan and execute our strategy;

Whether we will fully realize the economic benefits under our customer contracts;
Technological difficulties and potential legal claims arising from any technological difficulties;

Product demand and market acceptance risks, including our ability to develop and sell products and services to be
used by governmental or commercial customers;

Uncertainty in government funding and support for key space programs;

The impact of competition on our ability to win new contracts;

Uncertainty in securing reliable and consistent access to space, including the International Space Station ( ISS );
Delays in the timing of performance under our contracts;

Our ability to meet technological development milestones and overcome development challenges; and

Risks described in the Risk Factors section of this Form 10-K.

Although we believe that the assumptions underlying our forward-looking statements are reasonable, any of the
assumptions could be inaccurate, therefore we cannot assure you that the forward-looking statements included in this
Form 10-K will prove to be accurate. In light of the significant uncertainties inherent in our forward-looking
statements, the inclusion of such information should not be regarded as a representation by us or any other person that
our objectives and plans will be achieved. Some of these and other risks and uncertainties that could cause actual
results to differ materially from such forward-looking statements are more fully described in Item 1A Risk Factors of
this Form 10-K and elsewhere in this Form 10-K, or in the documents incorporated by reference herein. Except as
may be required by applicable law, we undertake no obligation to publicly update or advise of any change in any
forward-looking statement, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. In making these
statements, we disclaim any obligation to address or update each factor in future filings with the Securities and
Exchange Commission ( SEC ) or communications regarding our business or results, and we do not undertake to
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address how any of these factors may have caused changes to discussions or information contained in previous filings
or communications. In addition, any of the matters discussed above may have affected our past results and may affect
future results, so that our actual results may differ materially from those expressed in this Form 10-K and in prior or
subsequent communications.
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PART I

Item 1.

Business.

Our Company

Astrotech Corporation (Nasdaq: ASTC) ( Astrotech, the Company, we, us or our ), a Washington corporatic
commercial aerospace company that was formed in 1984 to leverage the environment of space for commercial
purposes. For nearly 30 years, the Company has remained a crucial player in space commerce activities. We have
supported the launch of 23 shuttle missions and more than 300 spacecraft. We ve designed and built space hardware

and processing facilities and constructed world-class processing facilities. We currently own, operate and maintain
world-class spacecraft processing facilities; prepare and process scientific research from microgravity and develop and
manufacture sophisticated chemical sensor equipment.

Our efforts are focused on:

Providing world-class facilities and related support services necessary for the preparation of satellites and
payloads for launch.

Providing satellite and payload processing and integration services and support.

Designing, fabricating and utilizing equipment and hardware for launch activities.

Supplying propellant and associated services for spacecraft.

Managing launch logistics and support.

Working with development partners to build industry specific applications using our sensor equipment.

Commercializing unique space-based technologies.

Our Business Units
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Astrotech Space Operations (ASO)

ASO provides support to its government and commercial customers as they successfully process complex
communication, earth observation and deep space satellites in preparation for their launch on a variety of launch
vehicles. Processing activities include satellite ground transportation; pre-launch hardware integration and testing;
satellite encapsulation, fueling, launch pad delivery; and communication linked launch control. Our ASO facilities can
accommodate five-meter class satellites, encompassing the majority of U.S.-based satellites. ASO s service capabilities
include designing and building spacecraft processing equipment and facilities. Additionally, ASO provides propellant
services including designing, building and testing propellant service equipment for servicing spacecraft. ASO
accounted for 99% of our consolidated revenues for the year ended June 30, 2013. Revenue for our ASO business unit
is generated primarily from various fixed-priced contracts with launch service providers in both the government and
commercial markets and the design and fabrication of space launch equipment. The services and facilities we provide
to our customers support the final assembly, checkout, and countdown functions associated with preparing and
launching spacecraft. The revenue and cash flows generated from our ASO operations are primarily related to the
number of spacecraft launches and the fabrication of the Ground Support Equipment ( GSE ) for the U.S. Government.
Other factors that have impacted, and are expected to continue to impact, earnings and cash flows for this business
include:
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The continuing limited availability of competing facilities at the major domestic launch sites that can offer
comparable services, leading to an increase in government and commercial use of our services.

Our ability to design and fabricate spacecraft preparation and processing equipment.

Our ability to control our capital expenditures, which are primarily limited to modifications required to
accommodate payload processing for new launch vehicles and upgrading building infrastructure.

Our ability to complete customer specified facility modifications within budgeted costs and time
commitments.

Uncertainty in government funding and support for key space programs.

The impact of competition and industry consolidation and our ability to win new contracts

Spacetech

Our other business unit is a technology incubator designed to commercialize space-industry technologies. This
business unit is currently pursuing two distinct opportunities:

15t Detect

15t Detect develops, manufactures and sells ultra small mass spectrometers and related equipment. Mass
spectrometers, in general, measure the mass and relative abundance of ions in a sample to create a mass spectrum .
This resulting mass spectrum is a unique fingerprint for each chemical that can be compared to a reference library of
mass spectra to verify the identity of a sample. Mass spectrometers can identify chemicals with more accuracy and
precision than competing instruments given their extreme sensitivity and specificity and they are a staple of almost all
analytical laboratories. By leveraging technology initiated by an engagement with the National Aeronautics and Space
Administration ( NASA ) to develop a mass spectrometer for the ISS, the Company has developed a series of
instruments that are significantly smaller, lighter, faster and less expensive than competing mass spectrometers, and
significantly more sensitive and accurate than other competing chemical detectors. Our efforts have resulted in a
technology that can provide mass spectrometry performance in real-time or in the field.

The MMS-1000™ is a small, low power mass spectrometer designed initially for the laboratory market. The unique
design of this unit enables mass spectrometric quality chemical analysis in a small package (about the size of a
shoebox) that operates off less power than a typical light bulb. This allows high quality chemical analysis to be
performed in locations where mass spectrometers have not been used before, such as directly on the factory floor or in
the battlefield, without compromising the quality of the analysis.
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The OEM-1000 is a mass spectrometer component that was developed for applications where customers need the high
quality analysis provided by a mass spectrometer but in a platform that can be integrated into customer specific
packages. The OEM-1000 uses the same high performance analyzer as the MMS-1000™, but is provided as an open
platform for customers and development partners to integrate with their complementary technologies, with
application-specific sample preparation, inlets and software.

Astrogenetix

Astrogenetix is a biotechnology company formed to commercialize products processed in the unique environment of
microgravity. Astrogenetix pursued an aggressive space access strategy to take advantage of the Space Shuttle
program prior to its retirement in 2011. This strategy gave Astrogenetix unprecedented access to research in
microgravity, as the Company flew experiments twelve times over a three year period. Astrogenetix and its partners

( the team ) are currently researching a Salmonella vaccine as part of its ongoing commercialization strategy.
Concurrently, the team is evaluating a vaccine target for Methicilin-Resistant Staphylococcus Aureus ( MRSA ) based
on discoveries made in microgravity. In December 2011, the Company negotiated a Space Act Agreement with
NASA for a minimum of twenty eight additional space flights.

11
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Business Strategy

Astrotech Space Operations (ASO)

As a leading commercial supplier of satellite processing and launch services in the United States, ASO strives to
provide our government and commercial customers with the most advanced facilities and customer support. ASO s
spacecraft processing capabilities are among the finest in the industry, with ideally located facilities that can support
the largest five-meter class satellites accommodating the needs of the majority of U.S. based satellites. With that
mission in mind, ASO is continuously working to secure additional government and commercial customers that
require our unique capabilities. In addition, ASO works to further grow the business by designing, building, and
operating spacecraft processing equipment and facilities that are unique in our industry.

Spacetech

15t Detect

With the recent introduction of the OEM-1000 platform technology, 15t Detect is integrating the mass spectrometer
technology with a number of existing complementary technologies and instruments. Market development strategies
are focused on product development with channel partners who will enhance the analytical capability of their own
product offerings by exploiting the attributes of the OEM-1000 to enable their own competitive advantage. Due to the
high speed performance, analytical capability and flexibility of the product, the Company s best opportunities involve
applications where real-time monitoring is required. There are also significant opportunities in the industrial research
environment where the mass spectrometer technology allows partners to offer high performance analytical capabilities
on their own sample preparation systems while improving their margins and reducing their customers bench top space
requirements.

Astrogenetix

From 2008 to 2011, Astrogenetix pursued an aggressive space access strategy to take advantage of the Space Shuttle
program prior to its retirement. This strategy gave Astrogenetix unprecedented access to research in microgravity, as
the Company flew twelve times with experiments in this three year period. Astrogenetix and the team are currently
focused on developing a Salmonella vaccine as part of the ongoing commercialization strategy. Concurrently, the
team is working on the continued development of a vaccine target for MRSA based on discoveries made in
microgravity. In December 2011, the Company negotiated a Space Act Agreement with NASA for a minimum of
twenty eight additional space flights.

12
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Products and Services

Astrotech Space Operations

From our state of the art facilities in Titusville, Florida and Vandenberg Air Force Base ( VAFB ) in California, ASO
has provided support for spacecraft pre-launch ground based operations for nearly 30 years for both government and
commercial satellites, and we are the leader in this sector. Our service offering includes logistic planning and support;
use of our unique facilities; and spacecraft checkout, encapsulation, fueling, and transport. In addition, ASO has
extensive experience in designing, building, and operating spacecraft processing equipment and facilities. ASO also
provides propellant services including designing, building and testing propellant service equipment for servicing
spacecraft.

Spacetech

15t Detect

15t Detect s ultra small mass spectrometer is a chemical analyzer that provides near laboratory quality, real-time
analysis. The Company s proprietary technology utilizes advances in low power electronics and miniaturization
technologies developed for the space program and it is capable of detecting a wide range of chemicals quickly with
very high sensitivity, specificity and reliability. The instrument provides near laboratory quality performance in a
much smaller footprint at a cost well below traditional mass spectrometers. The Company has two granted U.S.
patents, one pending U.S. patent application that will soon be granted, and numerous other patent applications now
pending before the U.S. Patent & Trademark Office and foreign patent offices.

13
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15t Detect instruments are based on the following key technology components:

Cylindrical Ion Trap ( CIT ): The CIT is the core analyzer element of the Company s mass spectrometer technology.
The CIT is a series of rings that hold ( traps ) ions in a resonant pattern with an applied RF voltage. By carefully
adjusting the RF voltage, the ions are ejected ( scanned ) onto a detector according to their mass, which results in a
mass spectrum. In addition, the CIT can be operated in MS/MS mode where targeted chemicals of interest can be
isolated and further fragmented in the trap to provide a secondary confirmation, improving the specificity of the
instrument without the need for additional hardware.

Pre-concentrator: To improve the sensitivity of the MMS-1000™, [st Detect developed a novel pre-concentrator under

a contract with the Defense Threat Reduction Agency and the U.S. Army Dugway Proving Ground. The
pre-concentrator can improve the sensitivity of the mass spectrometer by over 1000x, enabling detection to extremely
low concentrations (parts per trillion). In addition, the pre-concentrator can be operated in a temperature ramped mode
to separate chemicals in time similar to a gas chromatograph ( GC ), a competing technology. This can improve the
quality of the analysis without the need for a large, slow, power hungry GC.

Conductor Software ( Conductor }* Detect has written a software package that allows users to control the instrument
with a simple, feature rich, graphical user interface. Conductor also allows users to monitor the mass spectrum and
export the data to industry standard formats. The highly customizable software also contains an advanced mode where
users can write custom scripts in a simple JAVA based format for developing custom methods for unique analysis.

Astrogenetix

Astrogenetix is a biotechnology company formed to commercialize products processed in the unique environment of
microgravity. Astrogenetix pursued an aggressive space access strategy to take advantage of the Space Shuttle
program prior to its retirement in 2011. This strategy gave Astrogenetix unprecedented access to research in
microgravity, as the Company flew experiments twelve times over a three-year period. Astrogenetix and the team are
currently focused on developing a Salmonella vaccine as part of the ongoing commercialization strategy.
Concurrently, the team is working on the continued development of a vaccine target for MRSA based on discoveries
made in microgravity. In December 2011, the Company negotiated a Space Act Agreement with NASA for a
minimum of twenty eight additional space flights.

14
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Customers, Sales and Marketing

Astrotech Space Operations

ASO services a variety of domestic and international government and commercial customers sending satellites and
spacecraft to low-earth-orbit, geosynchronous orbit, or on planetary missions. ASO has long-term contracts in place
with NASA and other U.S. Governmental agencies. ASO continues to look for opportunities to support spacecraft
processing for government and commercial customers. During fiscal year 2013, ASO accounted for 99% of our
consolidated revenues.

Spacetech

15t Detect

15t Detect s customers primarily include universities, government agencies and other research organizations.
Customers have also purchased or leased the MMS-1000™ to evaluate the core technology in anticipation of
partnering with 15¢ Detect to develop a follow on custom solution. Significant progress has also been made with a
number of established instrument manufactures who have integrated the Company s OEM-1000 component with their
products, including those for industrial research applications and a modified OEM-1000 (the OEM-1000GC ) for
compatibility with GC s for security and petrochemical applications. This partnering strategy enables a scalable
distribution strategy where our products will leverage the brand names of established, high quality partners.

15



Edgar Filing: ASTROTECH Corp \WA\ - Form 10-K

The broadband nature of the 15t Detect technology, as well as the high performance provided by our unique ion trap
architecture, makes the 15t Detect technology applicable to a variety of applications. Market opportunities that 15
Detect is exploring include Security and Defense, Food and Beverage, Pharmaceutical, Industrial Processing,
Healthcare and Diagnostics, Environment Testing and Research.

Astrogenetix

Astrogenetix and the team are currently focused on developing a Salmonella vaccine as part of the ongoing
commercialization strategy. Concurrently, the team is working on the continued development of a vaccine target for
MRSA based on discoveries made in microgravity.

Competition

Astrotech Space Operations

The majority of the Company s revenue is derived from ASO, which processes satellites for U.S. launch locations. The
only significant competition to ASO s facilities is from commercial competitor Spaceport Systems International ( SSI )
and certain U.S. Government facilities. However, we believe that the majority of domestic satellites, including many
government satellites, are processed at ASO due to the state-of-the-art, professionally managed, full-service facilities

we operate.

Commercial

SSI operates and manages a commercial spaceport at VAFB and is a provider of payload processing and launch
services for both government and commercial users. The SSI facility throughput capability is significantly less than

that of ASO at VAFB. ASO s most recently constructed building at VAFB, the five-meter high bay, significantly
improves ASO s competitive advantage. SSI does not provide payload processing services in support of the Cape
Canaveral Air Force Station ( CCAFS ) / Kennedy Space Center ( KSC ) launch site, and therefore, does not compete
with ASO in Florida.

Governmental
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NASA and the United States Air Force own and operate payload processing facilities at both the CCAFS/KSC and
VAFB launch sites. These facilities, however, are used to process select government spacecraft only. They are not
used to process commercial spacecraft. Therefore, ASO s competition from the U.S. Government is limited in scope.

Spacetech

15t Detect

Competition with 15t Detect s mass spectrometer technology will come from two types of instruments. There are a
number of mass spectrometer vendors that supply primarily into the laboratory market and a number of vendors that
supply small, portable instrumentation based on other technologies (e.g., lon Mobility Spectrometry). 15t Detect is not
expected to feel pressure from incumbent mass spectrometer vendors as their offerings are typically too large,
expensive and complex to be used outside of the laboratory. Additionally, 15t Detect is not expected to feel
competition from other technologies as the analytical capability of our ultra small mass spectrometer far exceeds the
capabilities of these other technologies.

There are several incumbent vendors that compete directly with 15t Detect s ultra small mass spectrometer. However,
13t Detect products combine a number of attributes in a single product not currently available in other products. 15¢
Detect s competitive advantages include:

The 1%t Detect offering is significantly smaller, lighter and more portable than other mass spectrometers.
2.

The combination of the pre-concentrator technology and MS/MS capability eliminates the need for slow, power
hungry GC separation.

3.

Developed as a platform technology, 15t Detect is able to be adapted to a wider variety of applications than competing
purpose-built instruments.

17
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Astrogenetix

There are many developers of vaccines, including most large pharmaceutical companies and many smaller
biotechnology firms. However, there are no known competitors to Astrogenetix s microgravity vaccine development
platform. With final construction complete on the ISS, and focus shifting to operation of the national laboratory
through 2020, competition from foreign governments, academia and commercial companies is anticipated.

Research and Development

We invest considerable resources into our internal research and development functions. In addition, we work
collaboratively with our development partners to define and deliver additional capabilities to our customers. We
conduct research to improve system functionality, streamline and simplify the user experience, and extend our
capability into customer defined, application-specific, opportunities. We aggressively seek patent protection from the
U.S. Patent & Trademark Office and foreign patent offices.

We incurred $2.1 million and $2.6 million in research and development expense during fiscal years 2013 and 2012,
respectively. Research and development in fiscal year 2013 has been primarily directed towards development of 15¢
Detect s ultra small mass spectrometer.

Backlog

The Company s 18-month rolling backlog at June 30, 2013, which includes contractual backlog, scheduled but
uncommitted missions, is $25.5 million.

(In thousands)

Contract Backlog 18-Month Rolling

ASO Missions $ 22,230
ASO Facility Programs 3,251
Total Backlog $ 25,481

The 18-month rolling backlog for ASO consists of pre-launch satellite processing services, which include hardware
launch preparation, advance planning, use of unique satellite preparation facilities and spacecraft checkout,
encapsulation, fueling and transport, and design and fabrication of equipment and hardware for space launch activities
at our Titusville, Florida and VAFB locations.
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Certain Regulatory Matters

We are subject to United States federal, state, and local laws and regulations designed to protect the environment and
to regulate the discharge of materials into the environment. We are also beholden to certain regulations designed to
protect our domestic technology from unintended foreign exploitation and regulate certain business practices. We
believe that our policies, practices and procedures are properly designed to prevent unreasonable risk of environmental
damage and consequential financial liability. Our operations are also subject to various regulations under federal laws
relative to the international transfer of technology, as well as to various federal and state laws relative to business
operations. In addition, we are subject to federal contracting procedures, audit, and oversight. Compliance with
environmental laws and regulations and technology export requirements has not had in the past, and, we believe, will
not have in the future, material effects on our capital expenditures, earnings, or competitive position.

Significant federal regulations impacting our operations include the following:

Federal Regulation of International Business. We are subject to various federal regulations as it relates to the export
of certain goods, services, and technology. These regulations, which include the Export Administration Act of 1979
administered by the Commerce Department and the Arms Export Control Act administered by the State Department,
impose substantial restrictions on the sharing or transfer of technology to foreign entities. Our activities in the
development of space technology and in the processing of commercial satellites deal with the type of technology
subject to these regulations. Our operations are conducted pursuant to a comprehensive export compliance policy that
provides close review and documentation of activities subject to these laws and regulations.

10
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Foreign Corrupt Practices Act. The Foreign Corrupt Practices Act establishes rules for U.S. companies doing
business internationally. Compliance with these rules is achieved through established and enforced corporate policies,
documented internal procedures, and financial controls.

Iran Nonproliferation Act of 2000. This act includes specific prohibitions on commercial activities with certain
specified Russian entities engaged in providing goods or services to the International Space Station. Our activities
with RSC Energia of Russia are not subject to this act.

Federal Acquisition Regulations. Goods and services provided by us to NASA and other U.S. Government agencies
are subject to Federal Acquisition Regulations. These regulations provide rules and procedures for invoicing,
documenting, and conducting business under contract with such entities. The Federal Acquisition Regulations also
subject us to audit by federal auditors to confirm such compliance.

Truth in Negotiations Act. The Truth in Negotiations Act was enacted for the purpose of providing full and fair
disclosure by contractors in the conduct of negotiations with the U.S. Government. The most significant provision
included in the Truth in Negotiations Act is the requirement that contractors submit certified cost and pricing data for
negotiated procurements above a defined threshold.

Defense Security Service. Occasionally, we are requested to process government spacecraft payloads that must be
handled under federal security clearances. To accommodate these requirements, we maintain facility security
clearances within certain subsidiaries of the Company and have persons engaged by the Company with necessary
active security clearances to support these requirements. Maintenance of an active facility clearance requires dedicated
trained personnel, specified facility standards and recordkeeping.

Regulatory Compliance and Risk Management

We maintain compliance with regulatory requirements and manage our risks through a program of compliance,
awareness, and insurance, which includes the following:

Safety. We place a continual emphasis on safety throughout our organization. At the corporate level, safety programs
and training are monitored by a corporate safety manager.
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Export Control Compliance. We have a designated senior officer responsible for export control issues and the
procedures detailed in our export control policy. This officer and the designated export compliance administrator
monitor training and compliance with regulations relative to foreign business activities. Employees are provided
comprehensive training in compliance with regulations relative to export and foreign activities through our interactive
training program and are certified as proficient in such regulations as are relative to their job responsibilities.

Insurance. Our ASO operations, which are centered around specialized and unique processing facilities in Titusville,
Florida and VAFB, are subject to risk and potential loss due to a number of factors, but most notably, the
transportation of heavy equipment and the consistent use by customers and employees. To mitigate this risk we strive
to maintain our facilities in optimal condition and we hold property and casualty lines of insurance on each of our
facilities and a general liability policy for Astrotech.

Employees Update

As of June 30, 2013, we employed 62 regular full-time employees, none of which were covered by any collective
bargaining agreements.

On August 3, 2012, John Porter was terminated as Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and
Secretary of the Company and from all positions at subsidiaries of the Company. On January 10, 2013, a lawsuit was
filed against Astrotech Corporation by Mr. Porter. In the lawsuit, Mr. Porter alleges various breaches of contract
claims in connection with his termination from the Company on August 3, 2012. Mr. Porter seeks monetary damages
of at least $639,808. The Company intends to vigorously defend the lawsuit filed by Mr. Porter.

11
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On August 9, 2012, the Company announced the appointment of Carlisle Kirkpatrick, 45, as Chief Financial Officer
of the Company, effective as of August 9, 2012.

Item 1A.

Risk Factors.

Given the inherent uncertainty and complexity of the businesses that we engage in, our results from operations and
financial condition could be materially adversely impacted as set forth below.

Our success depends significantly on the establishment and maintenance of successful relationships with our
customers.

We have relied on governmental customers for a substantial portion of our revenue. Approximately 66% of our
revenue in fiscal year 2013 was generated by various NASA and U.S. Government contracts or subcontracts. The loss
of these customers could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
We cannot make any assurances that any customer will require our services in the future. Therefore, we continue to
work on diversifying our customer base to include other government agencies and commercial industries, while going
to great lengths to satisfy the needs of our current customer base.

Termination of our future orders could negatively impact our revenues.

The Company s rolling backlog at June 30, 2013, which includes contractual backlog and scheduled but uncommitted
missions, is $25.5 million. The majority is for ASO pre-launch satellite processing services, which include hardware
launch preparation; advance planning; use of unique satellite preparation facilities; and spacecraft checkout,
encapsulation, fueling and transport. Since our backlog is not yet earned and can be terminated by our customers, we
cannot assure that our backlog will ultimately result in revenues.

Increase competition from a branch of the U.S. Government or a commercial entity could significantly reduce the
number of missions using Astrotech facilities.

Astrotech provides services for domestic launch sites. In the event that the U.S. Government or commercial entity
offers spacecraft ground processing facilities for the launch sites currently serviced by Astrotech, there could be a
reduced need for the use of Astrotech facilities. This would result in direct competition for our existing customers in
connection with servicing domestic launch sites, which could significantly reduce our revenues. There can be no
assurance that we will be able to compete successfully against any new competitor in this area or that these
competitive pressures we may face will not result in reduced revenues and market share.
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Compliance with environmental and other government regulations could be costly and could negatively affect our
financial condition.

Our business, particularly our ASO business unit, is subject to numerous laws and regulations governing the operation
and maintenance of our facilities and the release or discharge of hazardous or toxic substances, including spacecraft
fuels and oxidizers, into the environment. Under these laws and regulations, we could be liable for personal injury and
cleaning costs and other environmental and property damages, as well as administrative, civil, and criminal penalties.
In the event of a violation of these laws, or a release of hazardous substances at or from our facilities, our business,
financial condition, and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.

As a U.S. Government contractor, we are subject to a number of rules and regulations, the violation of which could
result in us being barred from future U.S. Government contracts.

We must comply with, and are affected by, laws and regulations relating to the award, administration, and
performance of U.S. Government contracts. These laws and regulations, among other things:

Require certification and disclosure of all cost or pricing data in connection with certain contract negotiations.

Impose acquisition regulations that define allowable and unallowable costs and otherwise govern our right to
reimbursement under certain cost-based U.S. Government contracts.

Restrict the use and dissemination of information classified for national security purposes and the exportation of
certain products and technical data.

12
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A violation of specific laws and regulations could result in the imposition of fines and penalties, the termination of our
contracts, or being prohibited from bidding on U.S. Government contracts. Additionally, U.S. Government contracts
generally contain provisions that allow the U.S. Government to unilaterally suspend us from receiving new contracts
pending resolution of alleged violations of certain federal laws or regulations, reduce the value of existing contracts,
issue modifications to a contract, and control and potentially prohibit the export of our services and associated
materials. Prohibition against bidding on future U.S. Government contracts would have a material adverse effect on
our financial condition and results of operations.

Our failure to comply with U.S. export control laws and regulations could adversely affect our business.

We are obligated by law and under contract to comply, and to ensure that our subcontractors comply, with all U.S.
export control laws and regulations, including the International Traffic in Arms Regulations and the Export
Administration Regulations. We are responsible for obtaining all necessary licenses or other approvals, if required, for
exports of hardware, technical data, and software, or for the provision of technical assistance. We are also required to
obtain export licenses, if required, before utilizing foreign persons in the performance of our contracts if the foreign
person will have access to export-controlled technical data or software. The violation of any of the applicable export
control laws and regulations, whether by us or any of our subcontractors, could subject us to administrative, civil, and
criminal penalties.

Our business could be adversely affected by a negative audit by the U.S. Government.

U.S. Government agencies routinely audit and investigate government contractors. These agencies review a
contractor s performance under its contracts, cost structure, and compliance with applicable laws, regulations, and
standards. The U.S. Government may also review the adequacy of, and a contractor s compliance with, its internal
control systems and policies, including the contractor s purchasing, property, estimating, compensation, and
management information systems. Any costs found to be improperly allocated to a specific contract will not be
reimbursed, while such costs already reimbursed must be refunded. If an audit uncovers improper or illegal activities,
we may be subject to civil and criminal penalties and administrative sanctions, including termination of contracts,
forfeiture of profits, suspension of payments, fines, and suspension or prohibition from doing business with the U.S.
Government. In addition, we could suffer serious reputational harm that may affect our non-governmental business if
allegations of impropriety were made against us.

Our Spacetech business unit is in an early development stage. It has earned limited revenues and it is uncertain
whether it will earn any revenues in the future or whether it will ultimately be profitable.

Our Spacetech business unit is in an early stage with limited commercial sales and a limited operating history. Its
future operations are subject to all of the risks inherent in the establishment of a new business including, but not
limited to, risks related to capital requirements, failure to establish business relationships and competitive
disadvantages against larger and more established companies. The Spacetech business unit will require substantial
amounts of funding to continue to commercialize its products. If such funding comes in the form of equity financing,
such equity financing may involve substantial dilution to existing shareholders. Even with funding, our products may
fail to be effective or attractive to the market or lack the necessary financial or other resources or relationships to be
successful.
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The Spacetech business unit can be expected to experience continued operating losses until it can generate sufficient
revenues to cover its operating costs. Furthermore, there can be no assurance that the business will be able to develop,
manufacture or market additional products in the future, that future revenues will be significant, that any sales will be
profitable or that the business will have sufficient funds available to complete its commercialization efforts.

Any products and technologies developed and manufactured by our Spacetech business unit may require regulatory
approval prior to being made, marketed, sold, and used. There can be no assurance that regulatory approval of any
products will be obtained.

13
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The commercial success of the Spacetech business unit is expected to depend, in part, on obtaining patent and other
intellectual property protection for the technologies contained in any products it develops. In addition, the Spacetech
business unit may need to license intellectual property to commercialize future products or avoid infringement of the
intellectual property rights of others. There can be no assurance that licenses will be available on acceptable terms and
conditions, if at all. The Spacetech business unit may suffer if any licenses terminate, if the licensors fail to abide by
the terms of the license or fail to prevent infringement by third parties, if the licensed patents or other rights are found
to be invalid, or if the Spacetech business unit is unable to enter into necessary licenses on acceptable terms. If the
Spacetech business unit, or any third party, from whom it licenses intellectual property, fails to obtain adequate patent
or other intellectual property protection for intellectual property covering its products, or if any protection is reduced
or eliminated, others could use the intellectual property covering the products, resulting in harm to the competitive
business position of the Spacetech business unit. In addition, patent and other intellectual property protection may not
provide the Spacetech business unit with a competitive advantage against competitors that devise ways of making
competitive products without infringing any patents that the Spacetech business unit owns or has rights to. Such
competition could adversely affect the prices for any products or the market share of the Spacetech business unit and
could have a material adverse effect on its results of operations and financial condition.

Our facilities located in Florida and California are susceptible to damage caused by hurricanes, earthquakes, or
other natural disasters.

Our ASO spacecraft processing facilities on the east coast of Florida are susceptible to damage caused by hurricanes
or other natural disasters. In addition, our satellite processing facilities at VAFB are subject to damage caused by
earthquakes. Although we insure our properties and maintain business interruption insurance, there can be no
guarantee that the coverage would be sufficient or a claim will be fulfilled. A natural disaster could result in a
temporary or permanent closure of our business operations, thus impacting our future financial performance.

Due to our dependence on the timing of spacecraft launches, our results may fluctuate significantly from quarter
to quarter.

The use of our ASO spacecraft processing facilities is highly dependent upon the number of satellite launches planned
and executed each year. Additionally, factors beyond our direct control, such as a delay or accident at a launch vehicle
support facility, could cause a material change in our financial results. As a result, significant fluctuations should be
expected from quarter to quarter in our operating results.

The loss of key management and other employees could have a material adverse effect on our business.
We are dependent on the personal efforts and abilities of our senior management, and our success will also depend on

our ability to attract and retain additional qualified employees. Failure to attract personnel sufficiently qualified to
execute our strategy, or to retain existing key personnel, could have a material adverse effect on our business.

If we are unable to anticipate technological advances and customer requirements in the commercial and
governmental markets, our business and financial condition may be adversely affected.
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Our business strategy outlines the use of decades of experience to expand the services and products we offer to both
U.S. Government agencies and commercial industries. We believe that our growth and future financial performance
depend upon our ability to anticipate technological advances and customer requirements. There can be no assurance
that we will be able to achieve the necessary technological advances for us to remain competitive. In fiscal year 2013,
we continued new business initiatives for advancing commerce in space. These new business initiatives will require
substantial investments of capital and technical expertise. Our failure to anticipate or respond adequately to changes in
technological and market requirements, or delays in additional product development or introduction, could have a
material adverse effect on our business and financial performance. Additionally, the cost of capital to fund these
businesses will likely require dilution of shareholders.

Our inability to generate sufficient cash flow to pay off or refinance our indebtedness with near-term maturities
could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition.

We cannot assure that our business will generate cash flows from operations or that future borrowings will be
available to us in an amount sufficient to pay our maturing indebtedness as it comes due. As a result, we may need to
refinance all or a portion of the debt or we may need to secure new financing before maturity. We cannot be sure that
we will be able to obtain financing on reasonable terms or at all, particularly given the general economic situation and
lending environment we currently face.
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Our earnings and margins may vary due to the nature of our fixed-priced contracts.

Our business mix includes cost-reimbursable and fixed-price contracts. Cost-reimbursable contracts generally have
lower profit margins than fixed-price contracts. Our ASO business unit contracts are mainly fixed-price contracts. If
we are unable to control costs we incur in performing under the contract, our financial condition and operating results
could be materially adversely affected. Additionally, the costs incurred to operate our core ASO business are
near-term fixed. As a result, if we are not able to schedule payload processing in order to optimize our facilities, our
financial results could be adversely affected.

We plan to develop new products and services. No assurances can be given that we will be able to successfully
develop these products and services.

Our business strategy outlines the use of the decades of experience we have accumulated to expand the services and
products we offer to both U.S. Government agencies and commercial industries. These services and products
generally involve the commercial exploitation of space, and involve new and untested technologies and business
models. These technologies and business models may not be successful, which could result in the loss of any
investment we make in developing them.

Our financial results could be adversely affected if the estimates that we use in accounting for contracts are
incorrect and need to be changed.

Contract accounting requires judgment relative to assessing risks, estimating contract revenues and costs, and making
assumptions for scheduling and technical issues. We rely on the application of consistent business processes in order
to minimize material error and maximize reporting transparency. The estimation of total revenues and cost at
completion for many of our contracts is complicated and subject to many unknown variables.

If our performance under a cost reimbursable contract results in an award fee that is lower than we have estimated, we
would be required to refund previously billed fee amounts and would have to adjust our revenue recognition
accordingly. If our performance was determined to be significantly deficient, we may be required to reimburse our
customers for the entire amount of previously billed awards. Changes in underlying assumptions, circumstances, or
estimates may adversely affect future period financial performance.

Our spacecraft payload processing facilities are specifically designed to process satellites and other payloads and
we would lose a substantial portion of their value if we no longer provide these services.

Our ASO spacecraft processing facilities were built specifically to process satellites and space related payloads. If we

were required to terminate the processing businesses, the value of these facilities could be impaired and, as a result,
our financial condition and results of operations would likely be negatively impacted.

Our inability to maintain required government security clearances and the impact of foreign ownership or control
could result in a loss of potential future spacecraft ground processing and other opportunities.
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In order to be a service and product provider for spacecraft ground processing and other related activities, we are
required to maintain certain government security clearances and we must comply with laws that limit foreign
ownership and control. We may be subject to regulatory action and other sanctions if we fail to comply with
applicable laws and regulations relating to required security clearances and foreign ownership and control. This could
harm our reputation, our prospects for future work, and our operating results.

We incur substantial upfront, non-reimbursable costs in preparing proposals to bid on contracts that we may not be
awarded.

Preparing a proposal to bid on a contract is generally a three to six month process. This process is labor-intensive and
results in the incurrence of substantial costs that are generally not retrievable. Additionally, although we may be
awarded a contract, work performance does not commence for several months following completion of the bidding
process. If funding problems by the party awarding the contract or other matters further delay our commencement of
work, these delays may lower the value of the contract, or possibly render it unprofitable.

15
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If our common stock ceases to be listed for trading on the NASDAQ Capital Market it may harm our stock price
and our common stock may become illiquid.

On November 13, 2012, we received written notification from NASDAQ indicating that the minimum bid price of our
common stock had fallen below $1.00 for 30 consecutive trading days and that we were therefore not in compliance
with NASDAQ Listing Rule 5550(a)(2). On May 14, 2013, we received a second compliance notice from NASDAQ
regarding the Company's failure to maintain the minimum bid price for continued listing. However, the NASDAQ
staff has determined that the Company is eligible for an additional 180 day grace period, or until November 11, 2013,
to regain compliance. NASDAQ's determination was based on the Company meeting the continued listing
requirement for market value of publicly held shares and all other applicable requirements for initial listing on the
NASDAQ Capital Market, with the exception of the bid price requirement, and the Company's written notice to
NASDAQ of its intention to cure the deficiency during the second compliance period. There can be no assurance that
we will cure the deficiency during the second compliance period. Any delisting of our common stock from the
NASDAQ Capital Market could adversely affect our ability to attract new investors, decrease the liquidity of our
outstanding shares of common stock, reduce our flexibility to raise additional capital, reduce the price at which our
common stock trades and increase the transaction costs inherent in trading such shares with overall negative effects
for our shareholders. In addition, delisting of our common stock could deter broker-dealers from making a market in
or otherwise seeking or generating interest in our common stock, and might deter certain institutions and persons from
investing in our securities at all. For these reasons and others, delisting could adversely affect the price of our common
stock and our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Item 1B.

Unresolved Staff Comments.

Not applicable.

Item 2.

Properties.

Astrotech relocated its corporate headquarters to Austin, Texas in June 2009. The leased office houses executive
management, finance and accounting, and marketing and communications.

ASO s headquarters, and Florida operations team, are located in a nine-building complex located on a 62-acre space
technology campus in Titusville, Florida. This campus encompasses 140,000 square feet of facility space supporting
non-hazardous and hazardous flight hardware processing, payload storage, and customer offices.
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In September 2009, we completed construction of a 23,000 square foot payload processing facility at VAFB in
California which enhanced our capability to process five-meter class satellite payloads. Additionally, in
December 2009, we completed construction of a 5,600 square foot office building used by customers for
administrative and operational support of teams processing satellites in the new five-meter payload facility. ASO
presently leases the 60-acre site located on VAFB in California, where we own four buildings totaling over 50,000
square feet of space. The Company has extended the original land lease, which expired in September 2013. The new
lease expires in September 2018, with provisions to extend the lease at the request of the lessee and the concurrence of
the lessor. Upon final expiration of the land lease, all improvements on the property revert, at the lessor s option, to the
lessor at no cost.

We maintained a separate 58,000 square foot payload processing facility located in Cape Canaveral, Florida. We
negotiated an agreement with the Canaveral Port Authority for the lease of the land for a forty-three year period,
expiring 2040. Upon expiration of the land lease, all improvements on the property revert at no cost to the lessor. In
May 2005, we sold the facility in Cape Canaveral, Florida for $4.8 million. We leased back 100% of the facility
through December 31, 2012, with an option for an additional year. We elected not to renew our lease on this facility.
The facility, although valuable under specific circumstance, is of little value to ASO s current operations. We do not
believe our operations will be significantly disrupted as a result of our decision not to renew this lease.

In May 2013, 15t Detect completed build-out of a new 16,000 square foot leased research and development, and
production facility in Webster, Texas. This new facility is equipped with state-of-the art laboratories, a clean room, a
production shop and offices for staff. The term of the lease is 62 months and includes two additional five year
options. The agreement also includes a right of first refusal on an adjacent space to accommodate future growth
requirements.

We believe that our current facilities and equipment are well maintained and in good condition, and are adequate for
our present and foreseeable needs.
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Item 3.

Legal Proceedings.

On January 10, 2013, a lawsuit was filed against Astrotech Corporation by John Porter, the former Senior Vice
President, Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Secretary of the Company. In the lawsuit, Mr. Porter alleges various
breaches of contract claims in connection with his termination from the Company on August 3, 2012. Mr. Porter
seeks monetary damages of at least $639,808. The Company intends to vigorously defend the lawsuit filed by Mr.
Porter.

On February 20, 2013, a shareholder derivative lawsuit was filed in the District Court of Travis County, Texas against
the current directors and chief executive officer of Astrotech Corporation and against the Company, as nominal
defendant. The complaint alleges, among other things, that the directors and chief executive officer breached fiduciary
duties to the Company in connection with certain corporate transactions, including loans to subsidiaries and purchases
of outstanding shares of the Company s common stock. The Company intends to vigorously defend the lawsuit.

Item 4.

Mine Safety Disclosures

None.
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PART II

Item 5.

Market for Registrant s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity
Securities.

Market Information

Our Common Stock is principally traded on the NASDAQ Global Market. The following table sets forth the quarterly
high and low intra-day bid prices for the periods indicated:

Fiscal 2013 High Low

First Quarter $ 1.29 $ 0.88
Second Quarter $ 0.99 $ 0.66
Third Quarter $ 0.96 $ 0.71
Fourth Quarter $ 0.87 $ 0.68
Fiscal 2012 High Low

First Quarter $ 1.07 $ 0.51
Second Quarter $ 0.87 $ 0.50
Third Quarter $ 0.88 $ 0.55
Fourth Quarter $ 1.34 $ 0.79

We have never paid cash dividends. It is our present policy to retain earnings to finance the growth and development
of our business; therefore, we do not anticipate paying cash dividends on our Common Stock in the foreseeable future.

We have 75,000,000 shares of Common Stock authorized for issuance. As of October 7, 2013, we had 19,486,727
shares of Common Stock outstanding, including 8,333 shares of restricted stock with voting rights, which were held
by approximately 2,700 holders. The last reported sale price of our Common Stock as reported by the NASDAQ
Global Market on October 7, 2013 was $0.66 per share.
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Securities Available for Issuance

As of June 30, 2013, the following securities are available for issuance:

Astrotech Equity Available for
Issuance

Plan Category

Equity compensation plans
approved by security holders
Equity compensation plans not
approved by security holders
Total

15 Detect Equity Available for
Issuance

Plan Category

Equity compensation plans
approved by security holders
Equity compensation plans not
approved by security holders
Total

Number of
securities to
be issued upon
exercise
of outstanding
options,
warrants, and
rights
(a)

1,175,150 $

1,175,150 $

Number of
securities to
be issued upon

exercise
of outstanding
options,
warrants, and
rights
(a)
700 $
700 $
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price of outstanding

options, warrants, and

price of outstanding

options, warrants, and
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Weighted average exercise

Number of securities
remaining available

for future issuance

(©)
0.94 1,440,001
0.94 1,440,001

Weighted average exercise

Number of securities
remaining available

for future issuance
(©
212.00 1,800

212.00 1,800
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Stock Performance Graph

The following performance graph and table do not constitute soliciting material and the performance graph and
table should not be deemed filed or incorporated by reference into any other previous or future filings by us under
the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, except to the extent
that we specifically incorporate the performance graph and table by reference therein.

The performance graph and table below compare the five-year cumulative total return of our common stock with the
comparable five-year cumulative total returns of the Standard & Poor s Aerospace & Defense Stock Index ( S&P
Aerospace & Defense ) and the NASDAQ Composite Stock Index ( NASDAQ Composite ). The figures assume an
initial investment of $100 at the close of business on June 30, 2008 in Astrotech Corporation, S&P, and NASDAQ,

and the reinvestment of all dividends.
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Astrotech Corporation
NASDAQ Composite
S&P Aerospace & Defense

6/08
100.00

100.00
100.00
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6/09

201.40
80.56
76.11

6/10

217.16
93.30
93.68

6/11

180.56
124.28
124.26

6/12

189.14
132.47
121.25

6/13

122.63
155.74
160.61
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Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

In March 2003, our Board of Directors authorized us to repurchase up to $1.0 million of our outstanding stock at
market prices. Additionally, in September 2008, the Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of the Company s
outstanding Common Stock or Senior Convertible Notes payable, up to a cumulative amount of $6.0 million. To date,
a total of 311,660 shares at a cost of $0.2 million have been repurchased by the Company. We did not repurchase any
shares during the year ended June 30, 2013.

Item 6.

Selected Financial Data.

The following table sets forth our selected consolidated financial data as of and for the years ended June 30, 2009,
2010, 2011, 2012 and 2013. Such data has been derived from our consolidated financial statements audited by PMB
Helin Donovan, LLP for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2009 and 2010 and by Ernst & Young LLP for the fiscal years
ended June 30, 2011, 2012 and 2013. The data set forth below should be read in conjunction with Management s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,  Risk Factors and our Consolidated
Financial Statements and Notes included in this annual report.

Years Ended June 30,
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
(In thousands, except per share data)
Operating Results:
Revenue $ 23,995 $ 26,138 $ 20,149 $ 27,979 $ 31,985
Costs of revenue 15,684 18,790 13,668 12,858 15,723
Gross profit 8,311 7,348 6,481 15,121 16,262
Selling, general and
administrative expenses 6,790 7,067 8,402 12,170 9,760
Research and development
expenses 2,080 2,571 3,834 2,798 2,330
Income (loss) from
operations (559) (2,290) (5,755) 153 4,172
Gain on bond exchange 665
Interest and other expense,
net (164) (1,026) (279) (459) (622)
Income tax benefit (expense) (17 53 (22) 510
Net income (loss) (723) (3,333) (5,981) (328) 4,725
Less: net loss attributable to
noncontrolling interest (538) (620) (998) (588)
Net income
(loss) attributable to
Astrotech Corporation (185) (2,713) (4,983) 260 4,725
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Net income (loss) per
common share basic $
Shares used in computing net
income (loss) per common
share basic

Net income (loss) per
common share diluted $
Shares used in computing net
income (loss) per common
share diluted

Balance Sheet Data (End of
Period):

Cash and Cash Equivalents $
Total assets

Current debt

Long-term debt, excluding
current portion

Stockholders equity

Working capital

(deficit) surplus $
Other Data:

Net cash provided by (used
in) operating activities $

Net cash used in investing
activities

Net cash provided by (used
in) financing activities
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(0.01)

19,328

(0.01)

19,328

5,096
48,002
387

5,655
35,480

4,307

(2,902)
(1,847)

(332)

$

(0.15)

18,544

(0.15)

18,544

10,177
50,049
372

6,042
36,132

4,820

(4,109)

(1,252)

544
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$

(0.28)

17,822

(0.28)

17,822

14,994
57,620
348

6,422
37,558

5,020

9,234
(776)

(1,549)

$

0.02

16,567

0.01

18,283

8,085
54,903
8,467
42,212

2,623

4,437
(1,829)

747

0.29

16,365

0.28

16,904

4,730
58,919
267

8,435
40,548

8,418

4,972
(1,427)

(1,455)
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Item 7.

Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

The following information should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and the
accompanying Notes included below in Item 8 and Risk Factors included above in Item 1A of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K. This discussion contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual
results may differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements.

Overview

Astrotech Corporation (Nasdaq: ASTC) ( Astrotech, the Company, we, us or our ), a Washington corporatic
commercial aerospace company that was formed in 1984 to leverage the environment of space for commercial
purposes. For nearly 30 years, the Company has remained a crucial player in space commerce activities. We have
supported the launch of 23 shuttle missions and more than 300 spacecraft. We ve designed and built space hardware

and processing facilities and constructed world-class processing facilities. We currently own, operate and maintain
world-class spacecraft processing facilities; prepare and process scientific research from microgravity and develop and
manufacture sophisticated chemical sensor equipment.

Our efforts are focused on:

Providing world-class facilities and related support services necessary for the preparation of satellites and
payloads.

Providing satellite and payload processing and integration service and support.

Designing, fabricating and utilizing equipment and hardware for launch activities.

Supplying propellant and associated services for spacecraft.

Managing launch logistics and support.

Working with development partners to build industry specific applications using our sensor equipment.

Commercializing unique space-based technologies.

Our Business Units
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Astrotech Space Operations (ASO)

ASO provides support to its government and commercial customers as they successfully process complex
communication, earth observation and deep space satellites in preparation for their launch on a variety of launch
vehicles. Processing activities include satellite ground transportation; pre-launch hardware integration and testing;
satellite encapsulation, fueling, launch pad delivery; and communication linked launch control. Our ASO facilities can
accommodate five-meter class satellites, encompassing the majority of U.S.-based satellites. ASO s service capabilities
include designing and building spacecraft processing equipment and facilities. Additionally, ASO provides propellant
services including designing, building and testing propellant service equipment for servicing spacecraft. ASO
accounted for 99% of our consolidated revenues for the year ended June 30, 2013. Revenue for our ASO business unit
is generated primarily from various fixed-priced contracts with launch service providers in both the government and
commercial markets and the design and fabrication of space launch equipment. The services and facilities we provide
to our customers support the final assembly, checkout, and countdown functions associated with preparing and
launching spacecraft. The revenue and cash flows generated from our ASO operations are primarily related to the
number of spacecraft launches and the fabrication of the GSE for the U.S. Government. Other factors that have
impacted, and are expected to continue to impact, earnings and cash flows for this business include:
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The continuing limited availability of competing facilities at the major domestic launch sites that can offer
comparable services, leading to an increase in government and commercial use of our services.

Our ability to design and fabricate spacecraft preparation and processing equipment.

Our ability to control our capital expenditures, which are primarily limited to modifications required to
accommodate payload processing for new launch vehicles and upgrading building infrastructure.

Our ability to complete customer specified facility modifications within budgeted costs and time
commitments.

Uncertainty in government funding and support for key space programs.

The impact of competition and industry consolidation and our ability to win new contracts.

Spacetech

Our other business unit is a technology incubator designed to commercialize space-industry technologies. This
business unit is currently pursuing two distinct opportunities:

15t Detect

15t Detect develops, manufactures and sells ultra-small mass spectrometers and related equipment. Mass
spectrometers, in general, measure the mass and relative abundance of ions in a sample to create a mass spectrum .
This resulting mass spectrum is a unique fingerprint for each chemical that can be compared to a reference library of
mass spectra to verify the identity of a sample. Mass spectrometers can identify chemicals with more accuracy and
precision than competing instruments given their extreme sensitivity and specificity and they are a staple of almost all
analytical laboratories. By leveraging technology initiated by an engagement with NASA to develop a mass
spectrometer for the ISS, the Company has developed a series of instruments that are significantly smaller, lighter,
faster and less expensive than competing mass spectrometers, and significantly more sensitive and accurate than other
competing chemical detectors. Our efforts have resulted in a technology that can provide mass spectrometry
performance in real-time or in the field.

The MMS-1000™ is a small, low power mass spectrometer designed initially for the laboratory market. The unique
design of this unit enables mass spectrometric quality chemical analysis in a small package (about the size of a
shoebox) that operates off less power than a typical light bulb. This allows high quality chemical analysis to be
performed in locations where mass spectrometers have not been used before, such as directly on the factory floor or in
the battlefield, without compromising the quality of the analysis.
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The OEM-1000 s a mass spectrometer component that was developed for applications where customers need the high
quality analysis provided by a mass spectrometer but in a platform that can be integrated into customer specific
packages. The OEM-1000 uses the same high performance analyzer as the MMS-1000™ but is provided as an open
platform for customers and development partners to integrate with their complementary technologies, with
application-specific sample preparation, inlets and software.

Astrogenetix

Astrogenetix is a biotechnology company formed to commercialize products processed in the unique environment of
microgravity. Astrogenetix pursued an aggressive space access strategy to take advantage of the Space Shuttle
program prior to its retirement in 2011. This strategy gave Astrogenetix unprecedented access to research in
microgravity, as the Company flew experiments twelve times over a three year period. Astrogenetix and the team are
currently researching a Salmonella vaccine as part of its ongoing commercialization strategy. Concurrently, the team
is evaluating a vaccine target for MRSA based on discoveries made in microgravity. In December 2011, the Company
negotiated a Space Act Agreement with NASA for a minimum of twenty eight additional space flights.
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Critical Accounting Policies

The discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our consolidated
financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting
principles. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying
values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Estimates and assumptions are
reviewed periodically. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

Revenue Recognition

Astrotech recognizes revenue employing several generally accepted revenue recognition methodologies across its
business units. The methodology used is based on contract type and the manner in which products and services are
provided.

Revenue generated by Astrotech s payload processing facilities is recognized ratably over the occupancy period of the
satellite while in the Astrotech facilities. The percentage-of-completion method is used for all contracts where
incurred costs can be reasonably estimated and successful completion can be reasonably assured at inception. Changes
in estimated costs to complete and provisions for contract losses are recognized in the period they become known.
Revenue for the sale of commercial products is recognized at shipment.

A Summary of Revenue Recognition Methods

Services/Products Contract Type Method of Revenue Recognition
Provided

Payload Processing Firm Fixed Price Mission Ratably, over the occupancy period of a
Facilities Specific satellite

within the facility from arrival through launch

Construction Contracts Firm Fixed Price Percentage-of-completion based on costs
incurred
Engineering Services Cost Reimbursable Reimbursable costs incurred plus award/fixed
fee
Award/Fixed Fee
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Commercial Products Specific Purchase At shipment
Order Based

Grant Cost Reimbursable As costs are incurred for related research and
Award development expenses

Under certain contracts, we make expenditures for specific enhancements and/or additions to our facilities where the
customer agrees to pay a fixed fee to deliver the enhancement or addition. We account for such agreements as a
reduction in the cost of such investments and recognize any excess of amounts collected above the expenditure as
revenue.

Long-Lived Asset

In assessing the recoverability of long-lived assets, fixed assets, assets under construction and intangible assets, we
evaluate the recoverability of those assets. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison
of the carrying amount of an asset to future net cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If such assets are
considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured by the amount by which the carrying amount
of the asset exceeds the fair value of the asset. Assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of the carrying
amount or fair value less costs to sell.
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Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that directly affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting periods. Actual results could differ
from these estimates.

Deferred Revenue

Deferred revenue represents amounts collected from customers for projects, products, or services expected to be
provided at a future date. Deferred revenue is shown on the balance sheet as either a short-term or long-term liability,
depending on when the service or product is expected to be provided.

Share Based Compensation

The Company accounts for share-based awards to employees based on the fair value of the award on the grant date.
The fair value of the stock options is estimated using expected dividend yields of the Company s stock, the expected
volatility of the stock, the expected length of time the options remain outstanding and risk-free interest rates. Changes
in one or more of these factors may significantly affect the estimated fair value of the stock options. Additionally, the
Company estimates the number of instruments for which the required service is expected to be rendered. The
Company estimates forfeitures using historical forfeiture rates for previous grants of equity instruments. The fair value
of awards that are expected to vest is recorded as an expense over the vesting period.

Noncontrolling Interest

Noncontrolling interest accounting is applied for any entities where the Company maintains more than 50% and less
than 100% ownership. The Company clearly identifies the noncontrolling interest in the balance sheets and income
statements. We also disclose three measures of net income (loss): net income (loss), net income (loss) attributable to
noncontrolling interest, and net income (loss) attributable to Astrotech Corporation. Our operating cash flows in our
consolidated statements of cash flows reflect net income (loss), while our basic and diluted earnings per share
calculations reflect net income (loss) attributable to Astrotech Corporation.

State of Texas Funding
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The Company accounts for the State of Texas funding in the amount of $1.8 million in its majority owned subsidiary
1st Detect as a contribution of capital and has reflected the disbursement in the equity section of the consolidated
balance sheet. While the award agreement includes both a common stock purchase right and a note payable to the
State of Texas, the economic substance of the transaction is that the State of Texas has purchased shares of 15t Detect
in exchange for the granted award.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognized for the expected tax consequences of temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their reported amounts. Valuation allowances are established, when necessary, to reduce deferred tax assets to
amounts that are more likely than not to be realized. As of June 30, 2013, the Company has established a full
valuation allowance against all of its net deferred tax assets.

FASB ASC 740, Income Taxes (FASB ASC 740) addresses the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized
in an entity s financial statements and prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for financial
statement disclosure of tax positions taken or expected to be taken on a tax return. The Company has an unrecognized
tax benefit of $0.1 million for the years ended June 30, 2013 and 2012.

For the year ended June 30, 2013 and 2012, the Company s effective tax rate differed from the federal statutory rate of
35%, primarily due to recording changes to the valuation allowance placed against its net deferred tax assets.
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The Company files income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and in various states. Due to the Company s loss
carryover position, it is subject to U.S. federal and state income tax examination adjustments to its carryover benefits
generated after 1999.

Currently, the Company is under examination by the Internal Revenue Service for its 2008 through 2010 tax year.

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Results of Operations for the Years Ended June 30, 2013 and 2012

The following table sets forth the significant components in the Consolidated Statements of Operations for the year
ended June 30, 2013 compared with 2012. The financial information and the discussion below should be read in
conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Year Ended June 30,

(In thousands) 2013 2012 Variance
Revenue $ 23,995 $ 26,138 $ (2,143)
Cost of Revenue 15,684 18,790 (3,106)
Gross profit 8,311 7,348 963
Operating expenses

Selling, general and administrative 6,790 7,067 277)
Research and development 2,080 2,571 (491)
Total operating expenses 8,870 9,638 (768)
Loss from operations (559) (2,290) 1,731
Interest and other expense, net (164) (1,026) 862
Loss before income taxes (723) 3,316) 2,593
Income tax (expense) benefit (17) 17
Net loss (723) (3,333) 2,610
Less: net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest (538) (620) 82
Net loss attributable to Astrotech Corporation $ (185) $ (2,713) $ 2,528

The following table sets forth the percentage of total revenue of significant components in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations for the year ended June 30, 2013 compared with 2012:

Year Ended June 30,
2013 2012
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Revenue 100 % 100 %
Cost of revenue 65 % 72 %
Gross profit 35 % 28 %
Operating expenses

Selling, general and administrative 28 % 27 %
Research and development 9 % 10 %
Total operating expenses 37 % 37 %
Loss from operations 2)% (9)%
Interest and other expense, net (D% (D%
Loss before income taxes 3)% 13)%
Income tax (expense) benefit * % * %
Net loss 3)% 13)%
Less: net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest 2)% 2)%
Net loss attributable to Astrotech Corporation 1) % (10) %

*

Represents less than 1% of period revenue

Revenue. Total revenue decreased to $24.0 million for the year ended June 30, 2013 from $26.1 million for the year
ended June 30, 2012. This decrease is primarily attributable to a reduction in revenue earned on the fabrication of the
GSE for the U.S. Government.
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A breakdown of revenue for the years ended June 30, 2013 and 2012 is as follows:

Year Ended June 30,
(In thousands) 2013 2012
ASO $ 23,862 $ 25,817
Spacetech 133 321
Total $ 23,995 $ 26,138

Gross Profit. Gross profit increased to $8.3 million for the year ended June 30, 2013, as compared to $7.3 million for
the year ended June 30, 2012. The increase in gross margin is more reflective of our satellite payload processing that
is generally near-term fixed-price. This year, we experienced an increase in satellite payload processing and a decrease
in activity for the fabrication of the GSE for the U.S. Government, as compared to the prior year.

Selling, General and Administrative Expense. Selling, general and administrative decreased to $6.8 million for the
year ended June 30, 2013 from $7.1 million for the year ended June 30, 2012. The decrease was primarily attributable
to a reduction in employee incentive compensation expense.

Research and Development Expense. Research and development expense decreased to $2.1 million for the year ended
June 30, 2013 from $2.6 million for the year ended June 30, 2012. This decrease is a result of the delivery and
installation of 15t Detect evaluation units to potential customers, which were recorded as an offset to research and
development expense.

Interest and Other expense, net. Interest and other expense, net, decreased to $0.2 million for the year ended June 30,
2013 from $1.0 million for the year ended June 30, 2012. The decrease is attributable to a reserve that the Company
took against the note receivable, due December 2012, in the amount of $0.7 million representing the full carried book
value of the note at June 30, 2012 (see Note 6).

SEGMENT RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

ASO

Selected financial data for the years ended June 30, 2013 and 2012 of our ASO business unit is as follows:

Year Ended June 30,
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(In thousands) 2013 2012 Variance
Revenue $ 23,862 $ 25,817 $ (1,955)
Cost of revenue 15,684 18,748 (3,064)
Gross profit 8,178 7,069 1,109
Gross margin percentage 34 % 27 % 7 %
Operating expenses

Selling, general and administrative 4,865 5,008 (143)
Total operating expenses 4,865 5,008 (143)
Interest and other expense, net (192) (1,022) 830
Net income 3,121 1,039 2,082
Less: net loss attributable to noncontrolling

interest

Net income attributable to ASO $ 3,121 $ 1,039 $ 2,082

Revenue. Total revenue decreased to $23.9 million for the year ended June 30, 2013 from $25.8 million for the year
ended June 30, 2012. This decrease is primarily attributable to revenue earned on the fabrication of the GSE for the
U.S. Government.

Gross Profit. Gross profit increased to $8.2 million for the year ended June 30, 2013 from $7.1 million for the year
ended June 30, 2012. This year, we experienced an increase in satellite payload processing and a decrease in activity
for the fabrication of the GSE for the U.S. Government, as compared to the prior year.
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Selling, General and Administrative Expense. Selling, general and administrative expense decreased to $4.9 million
for the year ended June 30, 2013 from $5.0 million for the year ended June 30, 2012. The decrease was primarily
attributable to a reduction in employee incentive compensation expense.

Interest and Other expense, net. Interest and other expense, net, decreased to $0.2 million for the year ended June 30,
2013 from $1.0 million for the year ended June 30, 2012. The decrease is attributable to a reserve that the Company
took against the note receivable, due December 2012, in the amount of $0.7 million representing the full carried book
value of the note at June 30, 2012(see Note 6).

Spacetech

Selected financial data for the years ended June 30, 2013, and 2012 of our Spacetech business unit is as follows:

Year Ended June 30,
(In thousands) 2013 2012 Variance
Revenue $ 133 $ 321 $ (188)
Cost of Revenue 41 41
Gross profit (loss) 133 280 (147)
Gross margin percentage 100 % 87 % 13 %
Operating expenses
Selling, general and administrative 1,925 2,059 (134)
Research and development 2,080 2,571 (491)
Total operating expenses 4,005 4,630 (625)
Interest and other expense, net 28 4 32
Income tax expense 17 17
Net loss (3,844) (4,371) 527
Less: net loss attributable to noncontrolling
interest (538) (620) 82
Net loss attributable to Spacetech $ (3,306) $ (3,751) $ 445

Revenue. Total revenue decreased to $0.1 million for the year ended June 30, 2013 compared to $0.3 million for the
year ended June 30, 2012. 15t Detect received grant revenue from the SBIR Program during both fiscal years.

Gross Profit (Loss). Gross profit remained consistent for the years ended June 30, 2013 and 2012. 15t Detect received
grant revenue from the SBIR Program during both fiscal years. Costs associated with this program are expensed to
research and development.
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Selling, General and Administrative Expense. Selling, general and administrative expense decreased to $1.9 million
for the year ended June 30, 2013 from $2.1 million for the year ended June 30, 2012. The decrease was primarily
attributable a reduction in employee incentive compensation expense.

Research and Development Expense. Research and development expense decreased to $2.1 million for the year ended
June 30, 2013 from $2.6 million for the year ended June 30, 2012. This decrease is a result of the delivery and
installation of 15t Detect evaluation units to potential customers, which were recorded as an offset to research and
development expense.
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FINANCIAL CONDITION, CAPITAL RESOURCES, AND LIQUIDITY

Balance Sheet

Total assets for the year ended June 30, 2013, were $48.0 million compared to total assets of $50.0 million as of the
end of fiscal year 2012. The following table sets forth the significant components of the balance sheet as of June 30,
2013, compared with 2012 (in thousands):

Year Ended June 30,

2013 2012 Variance
Assets:
Current assets $ 10,916 $ 12,695 $ (1,779)
Property and equipment, net 37,035 37,270 (235)
Other assets, net 51 84 (33)
Total $ 48,002 $ 50,049 $ (2,047)
Liabilities and stockholders equity:
Current debt $ 387 $ 372 $ 15
Other current liabilities 6,222 7,503 (1,281)
Long-term debt 5,655 6,042 (387)
Other long-term liabilities 258 258
Stockholders equity 35,480 36,132 (652)
Total $ 48,002 $ 50,049 $ (2,047)

Current assets. Current assets decreased $1.8 million for the year ended June 30, 2013, as compared to June 30, 2012
as a result of cash used in operations.

Property and equipment, net. Depreciation and amortization expense of $2.1 million exceeded capital expenditures of
$1.8 million.

Other assets, net. Other assets, net, remained relatively consistent.

Current and long-term debt. Current and long-term debt decreased $0.4 million for the year ended June 30, 2013, as
compared to June 30, 2012 as a result of payments on the term note.
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Other current liabilities. Other current liabilities decreased by $1.3 million for the year ended June 30, 2013, as
compared to June 30, 2012. The primary driver was a $1.5 million decrease in deferred revenue, primarily relating to

the GSE contract.

Other long-term liabilities. Other long-term liabilities increased $0.3 million for the year ended June 30, 2013, as
compared to June 30, 2012. This was due to an increase in non-current deferred revenue and a tenant reimbursement

15t Detect received upon entering a new building lease.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The following is a summary of the change in our cash and cash equivalents:

June 30,
2013
Net cash used in operating activities $ (2,902) $
Net cash used in investing activities (1,847)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (332)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents $ (5,081) $

28

2012
(4,109)
(1,252)

544
(4,817)
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Cash and Cash Equivalents

At June 30, 2013, we held cash and cash equivalents of $5.1 million and our working capital was approximately $4.3
million. Cash and cash equivalents have decreased by approximately $5.1 million during the year ended June 30,
2013. At June 30, 2012, we held cash and cash equivalents of $10.2 million and our working capital was
approximately $4.8 million.

Operating Activities

Net cash used in operations was $2.9 million for the year ended June 30, 2013 compared to cash used in operations of
$4.1 million for the year ended June 30, 2012. The decrease in cash flow provided by operations was primarily due to
a reduction in deferred revenue cash collections on customer contracts, which was attributable to the GSE project.

Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities for the year ended June 30, 2013 increased to $1.8 million from $1.3 million for
the year ended June 30, 2013. Our investing activities are driven primarily by the timing of capital expenditures for
our payload processing facilities. In fiscal year 2013, this increase was the result of capital expenditures for our 15¢
Detect facilities to support future growth and ensure sufficient capacity to meet forecasted demand for our ultra small
mass spectrometer product line.

Financing Activities

Net cash used in financing activities was $0.3 million for the year ended June 30, 2013 compared to cash provided by
financing activities of $0.5 million for the year ended June 30, 2012. In the year ended June 30, 2012, 15t Detect
received the second installment of $0.9 million from the Texas Emerging Technology Fund, which was used to fund
the continued development of the 15t Detect ultra small mass spectrometer and related equipment.

Debt

Credit Facilities
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In October 2010, we entered into a financing facility with a commercial bank providing a $7.0 million term loan note
and a $3.0 million revolving credit facility. The $7.0 million term loan terminates in October 2015, and the $3.0
million revolving credit facility expired in October 2012. The Company had no outstanding balance on the revolving
credit facility. The term loan requires monthly payments of principal plus interest at the rate of prime plus 0.25%, but
not less than 4.0%. The bank financing facilities are secured by the assets of ASO, including accounts receivable, and
require us to comply with designated covenants. The balance of the $7.0 million term loan at June 30, 2013 was $6.0
million.

The bank financing facilities contain certain affirmative and negative covenants with which we must comply. As of
June 30, 2013, we were in compliance with the debt covenants.

Liquidity

At June 30, 2013, we had cash and cash equivalents of $5.1 million and our working capital was approximately $4.3
million.

Our future capital requirements will depend on a number of factors, including our success in developing and
expanding markets for our products, payments under possible future strategic arrangements, continued progress of our
research and development of potential products, the need to acquire licenses to new technology, costs associated with
increasing our manufacturing and development facilities, costs associated with strategic acquisitions including
integration costs and assumed liabilities, litigation expense, the status of competitive products and potential cost
associated with both protecting and defending our intellectual property. Additionally, actions taken as a result of the
ongoing internal evaluation of our business could result in expenditures not currently contemplated in our estimates
for 2014. We believe, however, that our existing cash and cash equivalents are sufficient to fund our operating
expenses, capital equipment requirements and other expected liquidity requirements for the coming year. Factors that
could affect our capital requirements, in addition to those listed above include continued collections of accounts
receivable consistent with our historical experience, uncertainty surrounding mission launch schedules, and our ability
to manage product development efforts.
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Debt Covenant Compliance

The Company s debt repayments are due as follows (in thousands):

Balance Fiscal Year Fiscal Year Fiscal Year
6/30/2013 2014 2015 2016
Term Note $ 6,042 $ 387 $ 403 $ 5,252

Our bank financing facilities contain certain affirmative and negative covenants with which we must comply,
including the maintenance by us of a debt service coverage ratio of not less than 1.00 to 1.00, maintaining a tangible
net worth of not less than $32.50 million, and a maintaining a leverage ratio of not greater than .50 to 1.00. These
financial covenants are applicable to the results of ASO. In the event we are not in compliance with a covenant, the
bank may, among other things, accelerate all outstanding borrowings, cease extending credit or foreclose on collateral.
During fiscal year 2013, we were not in compliance with our debt service coverage ratio and we obtained a waiver
from the bank that indefinitely waived this event of default with respect to the periods we were in non-compliance.
As of June 30, 2013, we were in compliance with our affirmative and negative debt covenants. However, our
financial projections for fiscal year 2014 indicated that we will likely not be in compliance with our debt service
coverage ratio and minimum tangible net worth covenants by the third quarter ended March 31, 2014. On October 11,
2013, we amended the debt agreement with our bank that updated the following with respect to our debt covenants: 1)
provided a credit of $0.50 million and $2.25 million for the third and fourth quarter of fiscal year 2014, respectively,
to our debt service coverage calculation, 2) reduced our minimum tangible net worth requirement to $32.0 million for
the third and fourth fiscal quarter of fiscal year 2014, and 3) required that we maintain a minimum cash balance at the
bank of $2.0 million through June 30, 2014 and $0.75 million thereafter. Under the terms of the amendment, we
expect to be compliant with our affirmative and negative covenants through June 30, 2014. Therefore, we have
classified our debt as noncurrent for any principal payments due after June 30, 2014.

We believe we have sufficient liquidity and backlog to fund ongoing operations for at least the next fiscal year. We
expect to utilize existing cash and proceeds from operations to grow our core business offering in ASO and to support
strategies for Spacetech.

NASDAQ Notice

On November 13, 2012, we received written notification from NASDAQ indicating that the minimum bid price of our
common stock had fallen below $1.00 for 30 consecutive trading days and that we were therefore not in compliance
with NASDAQ Listing Rule 5550(a)(2). On May 14, 2013, we received a second compliance notice from NASDAQ
regarding the Company's failure to maintain the minimum bid price for continued listing. However, the NASDAQ
staff has determined that the Company is eligible for an additional 180 day grace period, or until November 11, 2013,
to regain compliance. NASDAQ's determination was based on the Company meeting the continued listing
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requirement for market value of publicly held shares and all other applicable requirements for initial listing on the
NASDAQ Capital Market, with the exception of the bid price requirement, and the Company's written notice to
NASDAQ of its intention to cure the deficiency during the second compliance period by effecting a reverse stock

split, if necessary.

Contractual Obligations

In addition to the term loan (see Debt explanation above), the Company is obligated under non-cancelable operating
leases for equipment, office space and the land for a payload processing facility. Future minimum payments under the
term loan and non-cancelable operating leases are as follows (in thousands):

Contractual

Obligations Total
Term Loan $ 6,042
Operating

Lease

Obligations 1,033
Total $ 7,075

Payments due by period
Less than
1 year 1-3 years
$ 387 $ 5,655
390 477
$ 777 $ 6,132
30

3-5 years
$
166
$ 166

More than 5

years
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Rent expense was approximately $0.7 million for the year ended June 30, 2013 and approximately $0.8 million for the
year ended June 30, 2012. The Company received sublease payments of $0.1 million for the year ended June 30,
2013 and $0.1 million for the year ended June 30, 2012.

ASO presently leases the 60-acre site located on VAFB in California, where we own four buildings totaling over
50,000 square feet of space. The Company has extended the original land lease, which expired in September 2013.
The new lease expires in September 2018, with provisions to extend the lease at the request of the lessee and the
concurrence of the lessor.

State of Texas Funding

In March 2010, the Texas Emerging Technology Fund awarded 15t Detect $1.8 million for the development and
marketing of the Miniature Chemical Detector, a portable mass spectrometer designed to serve the industrial,
environmental, security and healthcare markets (See Note 15). As of June 30, 2012, 15t Detect had received both of the
two $0.9 million disbursements. The disbursed amount represents a contingency through March 2020, the date of
cancellation. If an event of default should occur, the Company would calculate and expense accrued interest and
reclassify principal from equity to notes payable in the consolidated financial statements as amounts due to the State
of Texas. Management considers the likelihood of an event of default to be remote due to the fact that the covenants
that would necessitate repayment are within the control of the Company. As of June 30, 2013, no default events have
occurred.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We did not have any off-balance sheet arrangements as of June 30, 2013.

Item 7A.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk.

Our primary exposure to market risk relates to interest rates. We do not currently use any interest rate swaps or
derivative financial instruments to manage our exposure to fluctuations in interest rates. A one percent change in
variable interest rates will not have a material impact on our financial condition.
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Item 8.

Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of Astrotech Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Astrotech Corporation (the Company) as of June
30, 2013 and 2012, and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in stockholders' equity, and cash
flows for the fiscal years then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. We were not engaged to perform an audit of the
Company s internal control over financial reporting. Our audits included consideration of internal control over
financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company s internal control over financial reporting.
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide
a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated
financial position of Astrotech Corporation at June 30, 2013 and 2012, and the consolidated results of their operations
and their cash flows for each of the two fiscal years then ended June 30, 2013, in conformity with U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Austin, Texas

October 15, 2013
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ASTROTECH CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Accounts receivable, net of allowance
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets

Property and equipment, net

Other assets, net

Total assets

Liabilities and Stockholders Equity
Current liabilities

Accounts payable

Accrued liabilities and other

Deferred revenue

Current portion of term note payable
Total current liabilities

Deferred revenue

Other liabilities

Term note payable, net of current portion
Total liabilities

Stockholders equity

Preferred stock, no par value, convertible, 2,500,000 authorized shares, no issued
and outstanding shares, at June 30, 2013 and 2012

Common stock, no par value, 75,000,000 shares authorized at June 30, 2013 and
2012, 19,781,721 and 19,134,907 shares issued at June 30, 2013 and 2012,

respectively

Treasury stock, 311,660 shares at cost
Additional paid-in capital

Retained deficit

Noncontrolling interest

Total stockholders equity

Total liabilities and stockholders equity

Consolidated Balance Sheets

(In thousands, except share data)

June 30,
2013

5096 $
5317
503
10,916
37,035
51

48,002 $

2,488 $
2,430
1,304
387
6,609
64
194
5,655
12,522

183,782
(237)
987
(151,840)
2,788
35,480

48,002 $

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

2012

10,177
1,926
592
12,695
37,270
84
50,049

3,033
1,634
2,836

372
7,875

6,042
13,917

183,712
(237)
1,582
(151,655)
2,730
36,132
50,049
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ASTROTECH CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Operations

(In thousands, except per share data)

Revenue

Cost of revenue

Gross profit

Operating expenses:

Selling, general and administrative

Research and development

Total operating expenses

Loss from operations

Interest and other expense, net

Loss before income taxes

Income tax expense

Net loss

Less: Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest
Net loss attributable to Astrotech Corporation

Net loss per share, basic and diluted
Weighted average common shares outstanding, basic and diluted

Year Ended June 30,
2013 2012

$ 23,995 $ 26,138
15,684 18,790

8,311 7,348

6,790 7,067

2,080 2,571

8,870 9,638
(559) (2,290)
(164) (1,026)
(723) 3,316)
(17)
(723) (3,333)
(538) (620)
$ (185) % (2,713)
$ (0.01) $ (0.15)
19,328 18,544

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Balance at
June 30, 2011
Stock based
compensation
Restricted
stock issuance
Capital
contribution
State of Texas
Funding

Net loss
Balance at
June 30, 2012
Stock based
compensation
Exercise of
stock options
Restricted
stock issuance
Capital
contribution
Net loss
Balance at
June 30, 2013

Edgar Filing: ASTROTECH Corp \WA\ - Form 10-K
ASTROTECH CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Stockholders Equity

(In thousands)

Common Stock Treasury Additional Non- Total
Number
of Stock Paid-In  Accumulated Controlling Stockholders
Shares Amount Amount Capital Deficit Interest Equity
18,028  $ 183,712 $ (237) $ 1,104 $ (148,942) $ 1,921 $ 37,558
978 29 1,007
795
(500) 500
900 900
(2,713) (620) (3,333)
18,823  § 183,712 $ (237) $ 1,582 $ (151,655) $ 2,730 $ 36,132
31 31
119 70 (30) 40
528
(596) 596
(185) (538) (723)
19,470 183,782 (237) 987 (151,840) 2,788 35,480

See the accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ASTROTECH CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(In thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:

Stock-based compensation
Depreciation and amortization
Impairment of fixed assets

Reserve on notes receivable
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable

Deferred revenue

Accounts payable

Other assets and liabilities

Net cash used in operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property, equipment and leasehold improvements
Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Term loan payments

State of Texas Funding

Proceeds from issuance of common stock

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities

Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest

$

Year Ended June 30,
2013 2012

(723) $ (3,333)
31 1,007
2,115 2,243
200

675

(3,391) 503
(1,468) (8,357)
(545) 2,276
1,079 677
(2,902) (4,109)
(1,847) (1,252)
(1,847) (1,252)
(372) (356)
900

40

(332) 544
(5,081) (4,817)
10,177 14,994
5,096 $ 10,177
249 $ 243

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(1) Description of the Company and Operating Environment

Astrotech Corporation (Nasdaq: ASTC) ( Astrotech, the Company, we, us or our ), a State of Washington corpc
is a commercial aerospace company that was formed in 1984 to leverage the environment of space for commercial
purposes. For nearly 30 years, the Company has remained a crucial player in space commerce activities. We have
supported the launch of 23 shuttle missions and more than 300 spacecraft. We ve designed and built space hardware

and processing facilities and constructed world-class processing facilities. We currently own, operate and maintain
world-class spacecraft processing facilities; prepare and process scientific research from microgravity and develop and
manufacture sophisticated chemical sensor equipment.

Our Business Units

Astrotech Space Operations (ASO)

ASO provides support to its government and commercial customers as they successfully process complex
communication, earth observation and deep space satellites in preparation for their launch on a variety of launch
vehicles. Processing activities include satellite ground transportation; pre-launch hardware integration and testing;
satellite encapsulation, fueling, launch pad delivery; and communication linked launch control. Our ASO facilities can
process five-meter class satellites accommodating the majority of U.S. based satellites. ASO s service capabilities
include designing and building spacecraft processing equipment and facilities. In addition, ASO provides propellant
services including designing, building and testing propellant service equipment for fueling spacecraft. ASO accounted
for 99% of our consolidated revenues for the period ended June 30, 2013. Revenue for our ASO business unit is
generated primarily from various fixed-priced contracts with launch service providers in both government and
commercial markets and the design, fabrication and use of critical space launch equipment. The services and facilities
we provide to our customers support the final assembly, checkout, and countdown functions required to launch a
spacecraft. The revenue and cash flows generated from our ASO operations are primarily related to the number of
spacecraft launches and the fabrication of the GSE for the U.S. Government.

Spacetech

Our other business unit is a technology incubator designed to commercialize space-industry technologies. This
business unit is currently pursuing two distinct opportunities:
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15t Detect

The Company develops, manufactures and sells ultra-small mass spectrometers and related equipment. Mass
spectrometers, in general, measure the mass and relative abundance of ions in a sample to create a mass spectrum .
This resulting mass spectrum is a unique fingerprint for each chemical that can be compared to a reference library of
mass spectra to verify the identity of a sample. Mass spectrometers can identify chemicals with more accuracy and
precision than competing instruments given their extreme sensitivity and specificity and they are a staple of almost all
analytical laboratories. By leveraging technology initiated by an engagement with NASA to develop a mass
spectrometer for the International Space Station, the Company has developed a series of instruments that are
significantly smaller, lighter, faster and less expensive than competing mass spectrometers, and significantly more
sensitive and accurate than other competing chemical detectors. Our efforts have resulted in a technology that can
provide mass spectrometry performance in real-time or in the field.

The MMS-1000™ is a small, low power mass spectrometer designed initially for the laboratory market. The unique
design of this unit enables mass spectrometric quality chemical analysis in a small package (about the size of a
shoebox) that operates off less power than a typical light bulb. This allows high quality chemical analysis to be
performed in locations where mass spectrometers have not been used before, such as directly on the factory floor or in
the battlefield, without compromising the quality of the analysis.
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The OEM-1000 is a mass spectrometer component that was developed for applications where customers need the high
quality analysis provided by a mass spectrometer but in a platform that can be integrated into customer specific
packages. The OEM-1000 uses the same high performance analyzer as the MMS-1000™ but is provided as an open
platform for customers and development partners to integrate with their complementary technologies, with
application-specific sample preparation, inlets and software.

Astrogenetix

Astrogenetix is a biotechnology company formed to commercialize products processed in the unique environment of
microgravity. Astrogenetix pursued an aggressive space access strategy to take advantage of the Space Shuttle
program prior to its retirement in 2011. This strategy gave Astrogenetix unprecedented access to research in
microgravity, as the Company flew experiments twelve times over a three year period. Astrogenetix and the team are
currently researching a Salmonella vaccine as part of its ongoing commercialization strategy. Concurrently, the team
is evaluating a vaccine target for MRSA based on discoveries made in microgravity. In December 2011, the Company
negotiated a Space Act Agreement with NASA for a minimum of twenty eight additional space flights.

Liquidity

Our future capital requirements will depend on a number of factors, including our success in developing and
expanding markets for our products, payments under possible future strategic arrangements, continued progress of our
research and development of potential products, the need to acquire licenses to new technology, costs associated with
increasing our manufacturing and development facilities, costs associated with strategic acquisitions including
integration costs and assumed liabilities, litigation expense, the status of competitive products and potential cost
associated with both protecting and defending our intellectual property. Additionally, actions taken as a result of the
ongoing internal evaluation of our business could result in expenditures not currently contemplated in our estimates
for 2014. We believe, however, that our existing cash and cash equivalents are sufficient to fund our operating
expenses, capital equipment requirements and other expected liquidity requirements for the coming year. Factors that
could affect our capital requirements, in addition to those listed above include continued collections of accounts
receivable consistent with our historical experience, uncertainty surrounding mission launch schedules, and our ability
to manage product development efforts.

At June 30, 2013, we had cash and cash equivalents of $5.1 million and our working capital was approximately $4.3
million.

The Company s debt repayments are due as follows (in thousands):

Balance Fiscal Year Fiscal Year Fiscal Year
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6/30/2013 2014 2015 2016
Term Note $ 6,042 $ 387 $ 403 $ 5,252

Our bank financing facilities contain certain affirmative and negative covenants with which we must comply,
including the maintenance by us of a debt service coverage ratio of not less than 1.00 to 1.00, maintaining a tangible
net worth of not less than $32.50 million, and a maintaining a leverage ratio of not greater than .50 to 1.00. These
financial covenants are applicable to the results of ASO. In the event we are not in compliance with a covenant, the
bank may, among other things, accelerate all outstanding borrowings, cease extending credit or foreclose on collateral.
During fiscal year 2013, we were not in compliance with our debt service coverage ratio and we obtained a waiver
from the bank that indefinitely waived this event of default with respect to the periods we were in non-compliance.
As of June 30, 2013, we were in compliance with our affirmative and negative debt covenants. However, our
financial projections for fiscal year 2014 indicated that we will likely not be in compliance with our debt service
coverage ratio and minimum tangible net worth covenants by the third quarter ended March 31, 2014. On October 11,
2013, we amended the debt agreement with our bank that updated the following with respect to our debt covenants: 1)
provided a credit of $0.50 million and $2.25 million for the third and fourth quarter of fiscal year 2014, respectively,
to our debt service coverage calculation, 2) reduced our minimum tangible net worth requirement to $32.0 million for
the third and fourth fiscal quarter of fiscal year 2014, and 3) required that we maintain a minimum cash balance at the
bank of $2.0 million through June 30, 2014 and $0.75 million thereafter. Under the terms of the amendment, we
expect to be compliant with our affirmative and negative covenants through June 30, 2014. Therefore, we have
classified our debt as noncurrent for any principal payments due after June 30, 2014.
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We believe we have sufficient liquidity and backlog to fund ongoing operations for at least the next fiscal year. We
expect to utilize existing cash and proceeds from operations to grow our core business offering in ASO and to support
strategies for Spacetech.

(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation and Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Astrotech Corporation and its majority-owned
subsidiaries that are required to be consolidated. All significant intercompany transactions have been eliminated in
consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that directly affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting periods. Actual results could differ
from these estimates.

Credit Risk

The Company maintains funds in bank accounts that, at times, may exceed the limit insured by the Federal Deposit
Insurance Corporation, or FDIC. In October 2008, the FDIC increased its insurance to $250,000 per depositor, and to
an unlimited amount for non-interest bearing accounts. The risk of loss attributable to these uninsured balances is
mitigated by depositing funds in what we believe to be high credit quality financial institutions. The Company has not
experienced any losses in such accounts.

Revenue Recognition
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Astrotech recognizes revenue employing several generally accepted revenue recognition methodologies across its
business units. The methodology used is based on contract type and the manner in which products and services are
provided.

Revenue generated by Astrotech s payload processing facilities is recognized ratably over the occupancy period of the
satellite while in the Astrotech facilities. The percentage-of-completion method is used for all construction contracts
where incurred costs can be reasonably estimated and successful completion can be reasonably assured at inception.
Changes in estimated costs to complete and provisions for contract losses are recognized in the period they become
known. Revenue for the sale of commercial products is recognized at shipment.

A Summary of Revenue Recognition Methods

Services/Products Contract Type Method of Revenue Recognition
Provided

Payload Processing Firm Fixed Price Mission Ratably, over the occupancy period of a
Facilities Specific satellite

within the facility from arrival through launch

Construction Contracts Firm Fixed Price Percentage-of-completion based on costs
incurred
Engineering Services Cost Reimbursable Reimbursable costs incurred plus award/fixed
fee
Award/Fixed Fee
Commercial Products Specific Purchase At shipment
Order Based
Grant Cost Reimbursable As costs are incurred for related research and
Award development expenses
39
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Deferred Revenue

Deferred revenue represents amounts collected from customers for projects, products, or services expected to be
provided at a future date. Deferred revenue is shown on the balance sheet as either a short-term or long-term liability,
depending on when the service or product is expected to be provided.

Research and Development

Research and development costs are expensed as incurred.

Net Loss Per Share

Basic net loss per share is calculated by dividing net loss by the weighted average number of common shares
outstanding during the period. Diluted net loss per share includes all common stock options and other common stock
equivalents that potentially may be issued as a result of conversion privileges (see Note 12).

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers short-term investments with original maturities of three months or less to be cash equivalents.
Cash equivalents are comprised primarily of operating cash accounts, money market investments and certificates of
deposits.

Accounts Receivable

The carrying value of the Company s accounts receivable, net of the allowance for doubtful accounts, represents their
estimated net realizable value. We estimate the allowance for doubtful accounts based on type of customer, age of
outstanding receivable, historical collection trends, and existing economic conditions. If events or changes in
circumstances indicate that a specific receivable balance may be unrealizable, further consideration is given to the
collectability of those balances, and the allowance is adjusted accordingly. Receivable balances deemed uncollectible
are written off against the allowance.
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Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost. All furniture, fixtures, and equipment are depreciated using the straight-line
method over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets, which is generally five years. Our payload processing
facilities are depreciated using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives ranging from 16 to 40 years.
Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of the useful life of the improvement or the term of the lease.
Repairs and maintenance are expensed when incurred.

As required by our customers, we purchase equipment or enhance our facilities to meet specific customer
requirements. These enhancements or equipment purchases are compensated through our contract with the customer.
The difference between the amount reimbursed and the cost of the enhancements is recognized as revenue.

Deferred Financing Costs

Deferred financing costs represent loan origination fees paid to the lender and related professional fees. These costs
are amortized on a straight-line basis over the term of the respective loan agreements which approximates the interest
method.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

We review long-lived assets and certain identifiable intangibles for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held
and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to future net cash flows expected to be
generated by the asset. If such assets are considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured by
the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets. Assets to be disposed of
are reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell.
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Notes Receivable

The carrying value of the Company s notes receivable, net of the allowance for doubtful accounts, represents their
estimated net realizable value. We estimate the allowance for doubtful accounts based on type of customer, age of
outstanding notes receivable, historical collection trends, and existing economic conditions. If events or changes in
circumstances indicate that a specific receivable balance may be unrealizable, further consideration is given to the
collectability of those balances, and the allowance is adjusted accordingly. Notes receivable balances deemed
uncollectible are written off against the allowance and note receivable balances deemed less than likely to be fully
collected at maturity are reserved. In fiscal year 2012, we fully reserved our outstanding notes receivable of $0.7
million. As of June 30, 2013 there have been no payments made on the note.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Our financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, notes receivable, accounts
payable, notes payable and accrued liabilities. The carrying amounts of these assets and liabilities, in the opinion of
Company s management, approximate their fair value.

Operating Leases

The Company leases space under operating leases. Lease agreements often include rent holidays, rent escalation
clauses and contingent rent provisions for percentage of gross sales in excess of specified levels, as defined in the
respective lease agreements. Most of the Company s lease agreements include renewal periods at the Company s
option. The Company recognizes rent holiday periods and scheduled rent increases on a straight-line basis over the
lease term beginning with the date the Company takes possession of the leased property. The Company records tenant
improvement allowances and rent holidays as deferred rent liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets and amortize
the deferred rent over the terms of the lease to rent expense on the consolidated statements of operations.

Share Based Compensation

The Company accounts for share-based awards to employees based on the fair value of the award on the grant date.
The fair value of the stock options is estimated using expected dividend yields of the Company s stock, the expected
volatility of the stock, the expected length of time the options remain outstanding and risk-free interest rates. Changes
in one or more of these factors may significantly affect the estimated fair value of the stock options. The Company
estimates forfeitures using historical forfeiture rates for previous grants of equity instruments. The fair value of awards
that are expected to vest is recorded as an expense over the vesting period.
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Noncontrolling Interest

Noncontrolling interest accounting is applied for any entities where the Company maintains more than 50% and less
than 100% ownership. The Company clearly identifies the noncontrolling interest in the balance sheets and income
statements. We also disclose three measures of net loss: net loss, net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest, and
net loss attributable to Astrotech Corporation. Our operating cash flows in our consolidated statements of cash flows
reflect net loss, while our basic and diluted earnings per share calculations reflect net loss attributable to Astrotech
Corporation.

State of Texas Funding

The Company accounts for the State of Texas funding in its majority owned subsidiary 15t Detect as a contribution of
capital and has reflected the disbursement in the equity section of the consolidated balance sheet. While the award
agreement includes both a common stock purchase right and a note payable to the State of Texas, the economic
substance of the transaction is that the State of Texas has purchased shares of 15t Detect in exchange for the granted
award.

The common stock purchase right gives the State of Texas the ability to purchase common stock in 15t Detect, at par
value per share, at the earlier of: (1) the first Qualifying Financing Event or (2) eighteen months (recent extensions
were granted by the State of Texas, see Note 15). As of June 30, 2012, no Qualifying Financing Event has occurred.
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There are no cash payments due under the note unless there is an event of default, and the terms that allow for the note
to be cancelled after the passage of a set amount of time. The purpose of the note is to provide recourse for the State of
Texas if 13t Detect fails to fulfill the purpose of the grant, which is primarily to provide for economic development
within the State of Texas. If an event of default should occur, the Company would calculate and expense accrued
interest and reclassify principal from equity to notes payable in the consolidated financial statements as amounts due
to the State of Texas. Management considers the likelihood of an event of default to be remote. As of June 30, 2013,
no default events have occurred.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under the liability method, whereby deferred tax asset or liability account
balances are determined based on the difference between the financial statement and the tax bases of assets and
liabilities using current tax laws and rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to affect taxable
income. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in the period that
includes the enactment date. A valuation allowance is established when it is more likely than not that some portion or
all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.

Accounting Pronouncements

Accounting Standards Recently Adopted

Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") 2011-04, Fair Value Measurement ("Topic 820") Amendments to Achieve
Common Fair Value Measurements and Disclosure Requirements in U.S. GAAP and IFRSs. ASU 2011-04 amends
Topic 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures, to converge the fair value measurement guidance in U.S.
GAAP and International Financial Reporting Standards ( IFRS ). ASU 2011-04 clarifies the application of existing fair
value measurement requirements, changes certain principles in Topic 820 and requires additional fair value
disclosures. ASU 2011-04 is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2011, and did not have any
impact on the Company s financial statements.

(3) Noncontrolling Interest

In January 2010, restricted shares of Astrotech subsidiaries, 15 Detect and Astrogenetix, were granted to certain
employees, directors and officers (see Note 10), resulting in Astrotech owning less than 100% of the subsidiaries. The
Company applied non-controlling interest accounting for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2013 and 2012, which
requires us to clearly identify the non-controlling interest in the consolidated balance sheets and consolidated income
statements. We disclose three measures of net loss: net loss, net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest, and net
loss attributable to Astrotech Corporation. Our operating cash flows in our consolidated statements of cash flows
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reflect net loss, while our basic and diluted earnings per share calculations reflect net loss attributable to Astrotech
Corporation.

2013 2012
Beginning balance $ 2,730 $ 1,921
Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest (538) (620)
State of Texas funding (See Note 15) 900
Capital Contribution 596 500
Stock based compensation expense 29
Ending balance $ 2,788 $ 2,730

The capital contribution is made by the Company in order to fund the net losses of the noncontrolling interest.

As of June 30, 2013, the Company s share of income and losses is 86% for 5t Detect and 84% for Astrogenetix.
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(4) Accounts Receivable

As of June 30, 2013, and 2012, accounts receivable consisted of the following (in thousands):

2013 2012

U.S. Government contracts:

Billed $ 1,013 $ 456
Unbilled 1,976 150
Total U.S. Government contracts $ 2,989 § 606
Commercial contracts:

Billed $ 2,076 $ 1,070
Unbilled 252 250
Total commercial contracts $ 2,328 $ 1,320
Total accounts receivable $ 5,317 $ 1,926

The Company anticipates collecting all unreserved receivables within one year. Unbilled accounts receivable
represents revenue earned in excess of contracted billing milestones. The accuracy and appropriateness of our direct
and indirect costs and expenses under government cost-plus contracts, and therefore, our accounts receivable recorded
pursuant to such contracts, are subject to extensive regulation and audit by the U.S. Defense Contract Audit Agency

( DCAA ) or by other appropriate agencies of the U.S. Government. Such agencies have the right to challenge our cost
estimates or allocations with respect to any government contract. In the opinion of management, any adjustments
likely to result from remaining inquiries or audits of its contracts would not have a material adverse impact on our
financial condition or results of operations.

The following table summarizes the changes in our allowance for doubtful accounts (in thousands):

2013 2012
Beginning balance $ 54) $
Provision for uncollectable accounts, net of recoveries 4 54)
Write- off of uncollectable accounts
Ending balance $ (58) $ (54)

(5) Property and Equipment

As of June 30, 2013 and 2012, property and equipment consisted of the following (in thousands):
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June 30,
2013 2012
Flight Assets $ 44,757 $ 44,757
Payload Processing Facilities 45,866 44,766
Furniture, Fixtures, Equipment & Leasehold Improvements 19,973 18,335
Capital Improvements in Progress 39 930
Gross Property and Equipment 110,635 108,788
Accumulated Depreciation (73,600) (71,518)
Property and Equipment, net $ 37,035 $ 37,270

Depreciation and amortization expense of property and equipment for the years ended June 30, 2013 and 2012 was
$2.1 million and $2.2 million, respectively. In the year ended June 30, 2012, the Company evaluated the future use of
two historical SPACEHAB modules. Due to the retirement of the space shuttle program in the United States and the
lack of alternative uses which could potentially generate cash flow, the Company recorded a non-cash impairment of
$0.2 million for the two SPACEHAB modules as the full aggregate carrying amount was deemed no longer
recoverable.
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(6) Note Receivable

On April 28, 2005 the Company consummated the sale and simultaneous leaseback of its Cape Canaveral Florida
Spacehab Payload Processing Facility ( SPPF ). The sales price of the building was $4.8 million. The Company
received $4.1 million in cash of which $0.3 million was used for expenses related to the transaction. The Company
also received a note, secured by a second mortgage on the SPPF, for $0.7 million due December 2010. The Company
deferred approximately $0.5 million of gain from the sale leaseback transaction and recognized it as an offset to rent
expense over the five-year lease term.

The Company leased the building back from the owner under an agreement that initially expired on December 31,
2010. In November 2010, the Company renewed its lease with the owner for an additional two year term extending
the lease to December 31, 2012. Simultaneously, the Company extended the full repayment date of the note to
December 31, 2012.

The owner of SPPF does not have sufficient resources to repay the Company s note. As a result, the Company recorded
a full reserve in fiscal year 2012 against the collection of the note. Management has confirmed that the owner of the
SPPF has been actively marketing the facility for sale. At this time, the SPPF is currently for sale with no offers
pending. As of June 30, 2013, there have been no payments made on the note.

(7) Debt

In October 2010, we entered into a financing facility with a commercial bank providing a $7.0 million term loan note
and a $3.0 million revolving credit facility. The $7.0 million term loan terminates in October 2015, and the $3.0
million revolving credit facility, which expired in October 2012. The term loan requires monthly payments of
principal plus interest at the rate of prime plus 0.25%, but not less than 4.0%. The bank financing facilities are secured
by the assets of ASO, including accounts receivable, and require us to comply with designated covenants. The balance
of the $7.0 million term loan at June 30, 2013 was $6.0 million.

Our bank financing facilities contain certain affirmative and negative covenants with which we must comply,
including the maintenance by us of a debt service coverage ratio of not less than 1.00 to 1.00, maintaining a tangible
net worth of not less than $32.50 million, and a maintaining a leverage ratio of not greater than .50 to 1.00. These
financial covenants are applicable to the results of ASO. In the event we are not in compliance with a covenant, the
bank may, among other things, accelerate all outstanding borrowings, cease extending credit or foreclose on collateral.
During fiscal year 2013, we were not in compliance with our debt service coverage ratio and we obtained a waiver
from the bank that indefinitely waived this event of default with respect to the periods we were in non-compliance.
As of June 30, 2013, we were in compliance with our affirmative and negative debt covenants. However, our
financial projections for fiscal year 2014 indicated that we will likely not be in compliance with our debt service
coverage ratio and minimum tangible net worth covenants by the third quarter ended March 31, 2014. On October 11,
2013, we amended the debt agreement with our bank that updated the following with respect to our debt covenants: 1)
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provided a credit of $0.50 million and $2.25 million for the third and fourth quarter of fiscal year 2014, respectively,
to our debt service coverage calculation, 2) reduced our minimum tangible net worth requirement to $32.0 million for
the third and fourth fiscal quarter of fiscal year 2014, and 3) required that we maintain a minimum cash balance at the
bank of $2.0 million through June 30, 2014 and $0.75 million thereafter. Under the terms of the amendment, we
expect to be compliant with our affirmative and negative covenants through June 30, 2014. Therefore, we have
classified our debt as noncurrent for any principal payments due after June 30, 2014.

(8) Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The accounting standard for fair value measurements defines fair value, establishes a market-based framework or
hierarchy for measuring fair value, and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. The standard is applicable
whenever assets and liabilities are measured and included in the financial statements at fair value.

The fair value hierarchy established in the standard prioritizes the inputs used in valuation techniques into three levels
as follows:

Level 1 Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
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Level 2 Inputs other than Level 1 that are observable, either directly or indirectly, such as quoted prices for similar
assets or liabilities; quoted prices in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be
corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities.

Level 3 Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value
of the assets or liabilities.

The following table presents the carrying amounts, estimated fair values and valuation input levels of certain of the
Company s financial instruments as of June 30, 2013 and 2012 (in thousands):

June 30, 2013 June 30, 2012
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair Valuation
Amount Value Amount Value Inputs
Note payable $ 6,042 6,042 $ 6,414 $ 6,414 Level 2
Total $ 6,042 6,042 $ 6,414 $ 6,414

The carrying value of the Company s debt at June 30, 2013 approximates fair value based on rates available for similar
debt available to comparable companies in the marketplace. The carrying amounts of the Company s Level 1 securities
include cash and cash equivalents.

(9) Business and Credit Risk Concentration

A substantial portion of our revenue has been generated under contracts with the U.S. Government. During the year
ended June 30, 2013 and 2012, approximately 66% and 68%, respectively, of our revenues were generated by various
NASA and U.S. Government contracts or subcontracts. Accounts receivable totaled $5.3 million at June 30, 2013 of
which 56% was attributable to the U.S. Government. Accounts receivable totaled $1.9 million at June 30, 2012 of
which 31% was attributable to the U.S. Government.

The Company maintains funds in bank accounts that may exceed the limit insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation, or FDIC. In October 2008, the FDIC increased its insurance to $250,000 per depositor, and to an
unlimited amount for non-interest bearing accounts. The risk of loss attributable to these uninsured balances is
mitigated by depositing funds in what we believe to be high credit quality financial institutions. The Company has not
experienced any losses in such accounts.

(10) Common Stock Incentive, Stock Purchase Plans and Other Compensation Plans
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At June 30, 2013, 1,440,001 shares of Common Stock were reserved for future grants of stock incentive grants under
the Company s four stock incentive plans.

The 1994 Plan ( 1994 Plan )

Under the terms of the 1994 Plan, the number and price of the stock incentive awards granted to employees is
determined by the Board of Directors and such grants vest, in most cases, incrementally over a period of four years
and expire no more than ten years after the date of grant. At the time of approval, 395,000 shares of our common stock
were reserved for issuance under this plan. As of June 30, 2013, there are no shares available for grant. Based on the
Articles of the 1994 stock incentive plan, no awards shall be granted more than ten years after the effective date of the
plan unless amended.

The Directors Stock Option Plan ( Director s Plan )

Options under the Director s Plan vest after one year and expire seven years from the date of grant. At the time of
approval, 50,000 shares of our common stock were reserved for issuance under this plan. As of June 30, 2013, there
are 41,500 shares available for future grant.
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2008 Stock Incentive Plan ( 2008 Plan )

The 2008 Plan was created to promote growth of the Company by aligning the long-term financial success of the
Company with the employees, consultants and directors. At the time of approval, 5,500,000 shares of our common
stock were reserved for issuance under this plan. The 2008 Plan, administered by the Compensation Committee of the
Board of Directors, provides for granting of incentive awards in the form of stock options, stock appreciation rights
(RSAs) and restricted stock to employees, directors and consultants of the Company. Stock options awarded will vest
upon the Company s stock achieving a closing price of $1.50 and expire ten years from grant date or upon employee or
director termination. Restricted shares awarded will vest 33.33% a year over a three year period and expire upon
employee or director termination. There have been no RSAs granted from the 2008 Plan. As of June 30, 2013, there
are 342,501 shares available for grant under the 2008 Plan.

2011 Stock Incentive Plan ( 2011 Plan )

The 2011 Plan was designed to increase shareholder value by compensating employees over the long term. The plan is
to be used to promote long-term financial success and execution of our business strategy. At the time of approval,
1,750,000 shares of our common stock were reserved for issuance under this plan. The 2011 Plan, administered by the
Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors, provides for granting of incentive awards in the form of stock
options, stock appreciation rights (RSAs) and restricted stock to employees, directors and consultants of the Company.
Stock options awarded will vest upon the Company s stock achieving a closing price of $1.50 and expire ten years
from the grant date or upon employee or director termination. Additionally, a single 200,000 stock option grant was
awarded to a third party consultant intended to provide incentive which is aligned with management and the
shareholders. Vesting for these option shares will occur once certain performance conditions have been fulfilled.
There have been no RSAs or restricted stock granted from the 2011 Plan. As of June 30, 2013, there are 1,056,000
shares available for grant under the 2011 Plan.

15t Detect 2011 Stock Incentive Plan

The 2011 Plan was designed to increase shareholder value by compensating employees over the long term. The plan is
to be used to promote long-term financial success and execution of our business strategy. At the time of approval,
2,500 shares of 15t Detect stock were reserved for issuance under this plan. The 2011 Plan, administered by the Board
of Directors of 15t Detect, provides for granting of incentive awards in the form of stock options to certain directors,
officers and employees of 15t Detect. The awards vest upon certain performance conditions being met and expire ten
years from the grant date. The stock options have an exercise price equal to the fair market value of 15t Detect s
common stock on the date of grant as determined by an independent valuation firm. As of June 30, 2013, there are
1,800 shares available for grant under the 2011 Plan.

Astrogenetix
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On January 19, 2010, an independent committee of the Board of Directors of Astrogenetix, a subsidiary of the
Company, approved a grant of 1,550 restricted stock shares and 2,050 stock purchase warrants to certain officers,
directors and employees of Astrogenetix, of which 375 and 50 have subsequently been cancelled. The awards vested
50% a year over a two-year period. The restricted stock awards are equal to the fair market value of Astrogentix s
common stock on the date of grant as determined by an independent valuation firm. The Company utilized the
Black-Scholes methodology in determining the fair market value of the warrants.
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Stock Option Activity Summary

The Company s stock options activity for year ended June 30, 2012 and 2013 was as follows:

Shares Weighted Average

(in
thousands) Exercise Price

Outstanding at June 30, 2011 377 $ 1.28
Granted 779 0.79
Exercised

Cancelled or expired (15) 12.66
Outstanding at June 30, 2012 1,141 0.79
Granted 330 1.20
Exercised (119) 0.34
Cancelled or expired (177) 0.85
Outstanding at June 30, 2013 1,175 0.94

The aggregate intrinsic value of options exercisable at June 30, 2013 was $0.1 million as the fair value of the
Company s common stock is more than the exercise prices of these options.

Options
Outstanding Options
Weighted- Exercisable
Average Weighted- Weighted-
Remaining Average Average
Number Contractual Exercise Number Exercise
Range of exercise prices Outstanding Life (years) Price Exercisable Price
$0.32 045 228,750 526 $ 0.38 228,750 $ 0.38
$0.71 0.71 405,400 8.21 0.71
$1.03 24.10 541,000 7.45 1.36 11,000 11.94
$0.32  24.10 1,175,150 729 $ 0.94 239,750 $ 0.91

Compensation costs recognized related to vested stock option awards during the year ended June 30, 2013, and 2012
was $0.1 million and $0.1 million, respectively. At June 30, 2013 and 2012, there was $0.5 million and $0.3 million,
respectively, of total unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested stock option awards, which is expected to
be recognized over a weighted-average period of 7.9 years.

93



Edgar Filing: ASTROTECH Corp \WA\ - Form 10-K

Restricted Stock

At June 30, 2013, and 2012, there was $0.1 million and $0.1 million of unrecognized compensation costs related to
restricted stock, respectively, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 1.2 years.

The Company s restricted stock activity for the year ended June 30, 2012 and 2013, was as follows:

Weighted
Average
Shares
Grant-Date
(in
thousands) Fair Value
Non-vested at June 30, 2011 1,365 $ 1.14
Issued 25 0.75
Vested (699) 1.14
Cancelled or expired (13) 1.22
Non-vested at June 30, 2012 678 $ 1.12
Issued
Vested (528) 1.13
Cancelled or expired (133) 1.15
Non-vested at June 30, 2013 17 $ 0.75
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Stock Options 1% Detect

At June 30, 2013 and 2012, there was $0.1 million and $0.1 million of unrecognized compensation costs related to
options and warrants, respectively, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 8.2 years.

The Company s stock activity for the year ended June 30, 2012 and 2013 was as follows:

Weighted Average
Shares Exercise Price

Outstanding at June 30, 2011 1,820 $ 212.00
Granted 965 212.00
Exercised

Cancelled or expired (55) 212.00
Outstanding at June 30, 2012 2,730 $ 212.00
Granted

Exercised

Cancelled or expired (255) 212.00
Outstanding at June 30, 2013 2,475 $ 212.00

Restricted Stock 15t Detect

At June 30, 2013 and 2012 the awards were fully vested and there is no additional compensation expense to be
recognized related to restricted stock.

Stock Options Astrogenetix

At June 30, 2013 and 2012 the warrants were fully vested and there is no additional compensation expense to be
recognized related to warrants.

The Company s stock options activity for the year ended June 30, 2013 was as follows:

Weighted Average
Shares Exercise Price
Outstanding at June 30, 2011 2,050 $ 167.00
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Granted

Exercised

Cancelled or expired (50) 167.00
Outstanding at June 30, 2012 2,000 $ 167.00
Granted

Exercised

Cancelled or expired

Outstanding at June 30, 2013 2,000 $ 167.00

Restricted Stock Astrogenetix

At June 30, 2013 and 2012 the awards were fully vested and there is no additional compensation expense to be
recognized related to restricted stock.
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Fair Value of Stock Based Compensation

Stock-based compensation costs are generally based on the fair value calculated from the Black-Scholes or Binomial
option-pricing model on the date of grant for stock options. The fair values of stock are amortized as compensation
expense on a straight-line basis over the vesting period of the grants. The assumptions used are summarized in the
following table:

Astrotech
Year ended June 30,
2013 2012
Expected Dividend Yield 0% 0%
Expected Volatility 0.71 0.77
Risk-Free Interest Rates 0.20% 0.21%
Expected Option Life (in years) 10.00 10.00

The expected dividend yield is based on our current dividend yield and the best estimate of projected
dividend yield for future periods within the expected life of the option, which is currently 0%.

We estimated volatility using our historical share price performance over the last two years. Management
believes the historical estimated volatility is materially indicative of expectations about expected future
volatility.

The estimate of the risk-free rate is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant.

The expected life is calculated using the contractual term of the options as well as an analysis of the
Company s historical exercises of stock options.

Spacetech
Year ended June 30,
2013 @) 2012
Expected Dividend Yield 0%
Expected Volatility 0.33
Risk-Free Interest Rates 0.09%
Expected Option Life (in years) 10.00

(1) No options were issued in the year ended June 30, 2013.

The expected dividend yield is based on our current dividend yield and the best estimate of projected
dividend yield for future periods within the expected life of the option, which is currently 0%.

We estimated volatility using industry competitor s historical share price performance over the last two years.

Management believes the historical estimated volatility is materially indicative of expectations about
expected future volatility.
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The estimate of the risk-free rate is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant.
The expected life is calculated using the contractual term of the options as well as an analysis of the

Company s historical exercises of stock options.

Securities Repurchase Program

In March 2009, the Company repurchased 300,000 shares of Common Stock at a price of $0.40 per share, pursuant to
the securities repurchase program. As of June 30, 2011, we had repurchased 311,660 share of Common Stock at a cost
of $0.2 million, which represents an average cost of $0.76 per share, and $1.1 million of Senior Convertible Notes. As
a result, the Company is authorized to repurchase an additional $5.7 million of securities under this program.
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Common stock repurchases under the Company s securities repurchase program may be made from time-to-time, in
the open market, through block trades or otherwise in accordance with applicable regulations of the Securities and
Exchange Commission. Depending on market conditions and other factors, these purchases may be commenced or
suspended at any time or from time-to-time without prior notice. Additionally, the timing of such transactions will
depend on other corporate strategies and will be at the discretion of the management of the Company.

(11) Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognized for the expected tax consequences of temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their reported amounts. Valuation allowances are established, when necessary, to reduce deferred tax assets to
amounts that are more likely than not to be realized. As of June 30, 2013, the Company has established a full
valuation allowance against all of its net deferred tax assets.

FASB ASC 740, Income Taxes (FASB ASC 740) addresses the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized
in an entity s financial statements and prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for financial
statement disclosure of tax positions taken or expected to be taken on a tax return. The Company has an unrecognized
tax benefit of $0.1 million for the years ended June 30, 2012 and 2013.

For the years ended June 30, 2013 and 2012, the Company s effective tax rate differed from the federal statutory rate of
35%, primarily due to recording changes to the valuation allowance placed against its net deferred tax assets.

The Company files income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and in various states. Due to the Company s loss
carryover position, it is subject to U.S. federal and state income tax examination adjustments to its carryover benefits
generated after 1999.

Currently, the Company is under examination by the Internal Revenue Service for its 2008 through 2010 tax year.

The components of income tax expense (benefit) from continuing operations are as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended June 30,
2013 2012
Current
Federal $ $
State and local 17

99



Edgar Filing: ASTROTECH Corp \WA\ - Form 10-K

Foreign

Deferred

Federal

State and local

Foreign

Total Tax Expense $ $ 17

A reconciliation of the reported income tax expense to the amount that would result by applying the U.S. Federal
statutory rate to the income (loss) before income taxes to the actual amount of income tax expense
(benefit) recognized follows (in thousands):

Year Ended June 30,
2013 2012
Expected expense (benefit) $ (253) $ (1,161)
State tax expense 17
Change in temporary tax adjustments not recognized 167 744
Stock compensation 352
Other permanent items 86 65
Total $ $ 17
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The Company s deferred tax assets as of June 30, 2013 and 2012 consist of the following (in thousands):

Year Ended June 30,
2013 2012

Deferred tax assets:

Net operating loss carryforwards $ 13,274 $ 13,021
Alternative minimum tax credit carryforwards 671 671
Accrued expenses and other timing 683 823
Total gross deferred tax assets $ 14,628 $ 14,515
Less valuation allowance (13,540) (13,261)
Net deferred tax assets $ 1,088 $ 1,254

Deferred tax liabilities:
Property and equipment, principally due to differences in depreciation (1,088) (1,254)
Total gross deferred tax liabilities (1,088) $ (1,254)
Net deferred tax assets (liabilities)

&*L &L
<+

The valuation allowance increased by approximately $0.3 million for the year ended June 30, 2013. The valuation
allowance increased by approximately $1.1 million for the year ended June 30, 2012. The Company adjusted the value
of its deferred tax assets (before valuation allowance) in order to reflect tax return filings occurring since the prior
year provision. Since the Company reflects a full valuation allowance against its deferred tax assets, there has been no
income tax impact from these changes.

At June 30, 2013, the Company had accumulated net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $36.6 million for
Federal income tax purposes ($12.8 million, tax effected) that are available to offset future regular taxable income.
These net operating loss carryforwards expire between the years 2021 and 2034. Utilization of these net operating
losses is limited due to the changes in stock ownership of the Company associated with the October 2007 Exchange
Offer; as such, the benefit from these losses may not be realized.

The Company also has accumulated state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $9.3 million
($0.4 million, tax effected) that are available to offset future state taxable income. These net operating loss
carryforwards expire between the years 2019 and 2034. These losses may also be subject to utilization limitations; as
such, the benefit from these losses may not be realized.

The Company is currently under examination by the Internal Revenue Service for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2008
through 2010. Loss carryovers are generally subject to modification by tax authorities until 3 years after they have
been utilized; as such, the Company is subject to examination for the fiscal years ended 2000 through present for
federal purposes and fiscal years ended 2006 through present for state purposes.
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The Company has a temporary credit for business loss carryovers that may be utilized to offset its Texas margin tax.
The credit amount is $0.2 million ($0.1 million, tax effected). These credits may be used to offset $13,000 of state tax
liability each year and expire annually if not utilized.

The Company has $0.7 million of alternative minimum tax credit carryforwards available to offset future regular tax
liabilities.

The Company files consolidated returns for federal, California, Florida, and Texas income and franchise taxes. In
assessing the need for a valuation allowance, management considers whether it is more likely than not that some
portion or all of the net deferred tax assets will be utilized to offset future tax liabilities. Management considers the
scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable income, and tax planning strategies in making
this assessment. As of June 30, 2013, the Company provided a full valuation allowance of approximately
$13.5 million against its net deferred tax assets.
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Uncertain Tax Positions

The Company s change in uncertain tax benefit reserves during 2013 and 2012 were as follows (in thousands):

2013 2012
Balance at July 1 $ 64 $ 60
Additions for tax positions of current period
Additions for tax positions of prior years 4 4
Decreases for tax positions of prior years
Balance at June 30 $ 68 64

As of June 30, 2013, total uncertain tax positions related to state income taxes amounted to $68,000. Should the tax
positions prove successful, the Company s tax expense would be reduced by $42,000 (net of federal benefit). We
recognize interest and penalties related to income tax matters in income tax expense. During the years ended June 30,
2013 and 2012, we recognized interest expense related to uncertain tax positions of approximately $4,000 and $4,000,
respectively.

(12) Net Loss Per Share

Basic net loss per share is computed on the basis of the weighted average number of shares of common stock
outstanding during the period. Diluted net loss per share is computed on the basis of the weighted average number of
shares of common stock plus the effect of dilutive potential common shares outstanding during the period using the
treasury stock method and the if-converted method. Dilutive potential common shares include outstanding stock
options, convertible debt, and shared-based awards. Reconciliation and the components of basic and diluted net
loss per share are as follows (in thousands, except per share data):

Year Ended June 30,
2013 2012
Numerator:
Net loss attributable to Astrotech, basic $ (185 $ (2,713
Net loss attributable to Astrotech, diluted $ (185 $ (2,713
Denominator:
Denominator for basic net loss per share weighted average common stock outstanding 19,328 18,544
Dilutive common stock equivalents common stock options and share-based awards
Denominator for diluted net loss per share weighted average common stock outstanding
and dilutive common stock equivalents 19,328 18,544
Basic net loss per share $ 0.0 $ (0.15)
Diluted net loss per share $ 0.0 % (0.15)
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Options to purchase 1,175,150 shares of common stock at exercise prices ranging from $0.32 to $24.10 per share
outstanding for the year ended June 30, 2013, were not included in diluted net loss per share, as the impact to net loss
per share is anti-dilutive. Options to purchase 1,140,750 shares of common stock at exercise prices ranging from $0.30
to $24.10 per share outstanding for the year ended June 30, 2012, were not included in diluted net loss per share, as
the impact to net loss per share is anti-dilutive.

(13) Employee Benefit Plans

We have a defined contribution retirement plan, which covers substantially all employees and officers. For the years
ended June 30, 2013 and 2012, we have contributed the required match of $0.2 million and $0.3 million, respectively,
to the plan. We have the right, but not an obligation, to make additional contributions to the plan in future years at the
discretion of the Company s Board of Directors. We have not made any additional contributions for the years ended
June 30, 2013 and 2012.
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(14) Commitments and Contingencies

In addition to the term loan (see Note 7), the Company is obligated under non-cancelable operating leases for
equipment, office space and the land for a payload processing facility. Future minimum payments under the term loan
and non-cancelable operating leases are as follows (in thousands):

Year ending June 30,

2014 $ 777
2015 559
2016 5411
2017 162
2018 166
2019 and thereafter

Total $ 7,075

Rent expense was approximately $0.7 million for the year ended June 30, 2013 and approximately $0.8 million for the
year ended June 30, 2012. The Company received sublease payments of $0.1 million for the year ended June 30, 2013
and $0.1 million for the year ended June 30, 2012.

ASO presently leases the 60-acre site located on VAFB in California, where we own four buildings totaling over
50,000 square feet of space. The Company has extended the original land lease, which expired in September 2013.
The new lease expires in September 2018, with provisions to extend the lease at the request of the lessee and the
concurrence of the lessor.

Legal Proceedings

On January 10, 2013, a lawsuit was filed against Astrotech Corporation by John Porter, the former Senior Vice
President, Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Secretary of the Company. In the lawsuit, Mr. Porter alleges various
breaches of contract claims in connection with his termination from the Company on August 3, 2012. Mr. Porter
seeks monetary damages of at least $639,808. The Company intends to vigorously defend the lawsuit filed by Mr.
Porter.

On February 20, 2013, a shareholder derivative lawsuit was filed in the District Court of Travis County, Texas against
the current directors and chief executive officer of Astrotech Corporation and against the Company, as nominal
defendant. The complaint alleges, among other things, that the directors and chief executive officer breached fiduciary
duties to the Company in connection with certain corporate transactions, including loans to subsidiaries and purchases
of outstanding shares of the Company s common stock. The Company intends to vigorously defend the lawsuit.

105



Edgar Filing: ASTROTECH Corp \WA\ - Form 10-K

State of Texas Funding

In March 2010, the Texas Emerging Technology Fund awarded 15t Detect $1.8 million for the development and
marketing of the Miniature Chemical Detector, a portable mass spectrometer designed to serve the industrial,
environmental, security and healthcare markets (See Note 15). As of June 30, 2012, 15t Detect had received $1.8
million in disbursements. The disbursed amount of $1.8 million represents a contingency through March 2020, the
date of cancellation. If an event of default should occur, the Company would calculate and expense accrued interest
and reclassify principal from equity to notes payable in the consolidated financial statements as amounts due to the
State of Texas. Management considers the likelihood of an event of default to be remote. As of June 30, 2013, no
default events have occurred.

Employment Contracts

The Company has entered into employment contracts with certain of its key executives. Generally, certain amounts
may become payable in the event the Company terminates the executives employment.
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(15) State of Texas Funding

In March 2010, the Texas Emerging Technology Fund awarded 15t Detect $1.8 million for the development and
marketing of the Miniature Chemical Detector, a portable mass spectrometer designed to serve the industrial,
environmental, security and healthcare markets. In exchange for the award, 15t Detect granted a common stock
purchase right and a note payable to the State of Texas. As of June 30, 2012, 15t Detect had received $1.8 million in
disbursements. The proceeds from the award can only be used to fund development of the Miniature Chemical
Detector at 15t Detect, not for repaying existing debt or for use in other Company subsidiaries.

The common stock purchase right is exercisable at the first Qualifying Financing Event ( QFE ), which is essentially a
change in control or third party equity investment in 15t Detect. The number of shares available to the State of Texas,

at the price of par value, is calculated as the total disbursements (numerator) divided by the stock price established in
the QFE (denominator). If the first QFE does not occur within eighteen months of the agreement effective date, which
has been extended to June 30, 2014 as a result of recent extensions granted by the State of Texas, the number of shares
available for purchase will equal the total disbursements (numerator) divided by $100 (denominator). As of June 30,
2013, no QFE has occurred.

The note equals the disbursements to 15t Detect to date, accrues interest at 8% per year and cancels automatically at
the earlier of (1) selling substantially all of the assets of 15t Detect, (2) selling more than 50% of common stock of 15¢
Detect, or (3) in March 2020. No payments of interest or principal are due on the note unless there is a default, which
would occur if 15t Detect moves its operations or headquarters outside of Texas at any time before March 2020. 15t
Detect has the option to pay back the principal plus accrued interest by June 30, 2014, but repayment does not cancel
the State of Texas common stock purchase right.

Management considers the likelihood of voluntarily repaying the note or of a default event as remote due to the fact
that the covenants that would necessitate repayment are within the control of the Company. As such, the $1.8 million,
which was received in two installments of $0.9 million and $0.9 million, was accounted for as a contribution to equity
in the periods ended June 30, 2012 and 2010 respectively. As of June 30, 2013, no default events have occurred.

(16) Segment Information

Management s primary financial and operating reviews focus on ASO, the core business unit. All intercompany
transactions between business units have been eliminated in consolidation.

Key financial metrics for the year ended June 30, 2013 and 2012 of the Company s segments are as follows (in
thousands):
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Year Ended Year Ended
June 30, 2013 June 30, 2012
Revenue and Income Income (loss) Income (loss)

(in thousands) Revenue
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